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The Australian Capital Territory (ACT)

Working in the Australian Capital Territory to
reduce the incidence and impact of cancer
The Cancer Council ACT
The Cancer Council ACT is a not-for-profit organisation that
aims to promote a healthier community by reducing the
incidence and impact of cancer in the ACT region.
The Cancer Council ACT (The Council) is a non-government
community organisation that depends largely on the
generosity of the ACT and surrounding community providing
donations and supporting fundraising initiatives.

PROGRAMS AND SERVICES
Cancer Information Service
The Cancer Information Service provides
information on all aspects of cancer via
the Cancer Helpline 13 11 20; written
information; e-mail service; lending library;
and walk in consultation service.

Vision
To promote a healthier community by reduction of the
incidence and impact of cancer in the Canberra area through
information, education, supportive care and research.

Values
• accepting the principles of the Ottawa Charter for
Health Promotion
• provision of quality programs and services
• working within an evidence-based paradigm
• working within a ‘community/ environmental/
ecological’ approach rather than an ‘individual’
or ‘biomedical’ approach
• ensuring accessibility of services
• maintaining professional standards

Memberships of Major Cancer Organisations
• The Cancer Council Australia, together with other member
organisations in each state and territory
• Asian and Pacific Federation of Organisations for
Cancer Research and Control
• International Non-Governmental Coalition Against Cancer
• International Union For Health Promotion and Education
• International Union against Cancer (UICC). The UICC is
an international non-governmental association of more
than 290 organisations in 90 countries. Its objectives are
to advance scientific and medical knowledge in research,
diagnosis, treatment and prevention of cancer, and to
promote all other aspects of the campaign against cancer
throughout the world.

Cancer Prevention and
Early Detection Program
The Cancer Prevention and Early Detection
Program encompasses: the Adult Smoking
Cessation Service which includes the
Quitline 137 848 (13 QUIT), workplace
seminars and Quit courses and the General
Cancer Prevention and Early Detection
Service promoting cancer prevention
behaviours and participation in appropriate
early detection programs.

Supportive Care Service
The Supportive Care Service provides
facilitated support groups for people
affected by cancer and their families or
carers, a wig service and a peer assistance
volunteer service.

Research Program
Research grants are awarded annually and
fund cancer research and related projects
in the ACT.

Fundraising and Business Development
Program
In 2004–05 The Cancer Council ACT
raised 54% of its total funds through
donations, bequests and community events
including the well known Daffodil Day,
Australia’s Biggest Morning Tea and
Relay For Life.
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Strategic Plan 2005–2008

PREVENTION AND EARLY DETECTION
OF CANCER

CANCER INFORMATION AND
SUPPORTIVE CARE

Macro Goal 1 For people in the ACT to experience a
reduction in the incidence of preventable cancers and
an increase in the early detection of cancers.

Macro Goal 2 For people in the ACT affected by a
cancer diagnosis to have the negative impact of cancer
minimised.

Micro Goals

Micro Goals

1a) For people in the ACT to be aware of the need
to use cancer prevention strategies and be
motivated to take responsibility for changing
their behaviour.

2a) For cancer patients and their families to have
sufficient information and skill to reduce anxiety
and have a satisfactory level of control during
their cancer experience.

1b) For people in the ACT to be supported to
practice healthy behaviours by appropriate
legislation and public policy.

2b) For cancer patients to have the negative
impact of cancer minimised by legislation
and public policy.

1c) For related service providers to understand,
encourage and support healthy behaviours.

2c) For cancer patients to have access to adequate
medical services which are coordinated and
networked in an appropriate manner.

1d) For employers, families and communities
to understand and support cancer
preventing behaviours.
1e) For health practitioners and allied health
providers to use evidence based practices
in supporting individuals to achieve
healthy behaviours.

2d) For cancer patients and their families to be
aware of, and able to access, relevant community
services and supports.
2e) For health professionals and other service
providers to use an evidence-based approach in
serving cancer patients.

ENABLING GOALS
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Goal 3

For the organisation to raise sufficient funds
to fulfil its plans.

Goal 4

For the Board of Directors to govern well.

Goal 5

For the organisation to be managed so that it
fulfils the current strategic plan.

Report From President and
Executive Officer 2004–05

This year has been yet another one of change and
service improvement for The Cancer Council ACT.
To the outside world the most noticeable change would
be in the change of venue from Kaleen, in Canberra’s
northern suburbs, to Fairbairn in the former hospital
building on the decommissioned RAAF base.
The move was made because we had outgrown the old
building we occupied in Kaleen and we were also made
a very generous offer by Mr Terry Snow, philanthropist,
who holds the lease for Fairbairn. The building itself
is attractive and large, with a beautiful room with a
lovely peaceful outlook for support groups, training and
other gatherings. The location is also closer to most
of Canberra than Kaleen was. As many of our Shop
customers are parents of young families and many
of them live in Tuggeranong we have become more
convenient to them.
We chose World Cancer Day, 4 February 2005, for
the official opening of the new building. The Chief
Minister, Mr Jon Stanhope and Mr Terry Snow cut the
ribbon together in front of a large crowd of colleagues
and media. Later this day we moved to The Canberra
Hospital for the launch of the new Cancer Stream and
The Council’s Information Pack. Each cancer patient
at Canberra hospitals will receive a Cancer Council
ACT Information Pack containing information related to
their specific cancer.

In another important move The Cancer Council ACT
changed its structure from an Association Incorporated
in the ACT, to one more appropriate to our size and
income: a Company Limited by Guarantee. This
will not change the outward appearance of the
organisation, but will ensure that The Council conforms
to the robust record keeping and reporting processes
which ASIC requires. We would like to take this
opportunity to thank Minter Ellison, and particularly
Mr Michael Brennan, for their generosity to The
Council in waiving some of its fees for the work they
did on this project.

In February the Board and staff came together to
develop the foundations for the Strategic Plan
2005–08. You will find the agreed plan in this report
but the Board will need to revisit Macro Goal 1 which
currently stands as follows: “For people in the ACT to
experience a reduction in the incidence of preventable
cancers and an increase in the early detection of
cancers”. There is now convincing evidence that

Joan Bartlett, Executive Officer

we should not be promoting the early detection of
all cancers as, in some cases, this may do more
harm than good. More information on this topic is
available through our Cancer Helpline and in material
from our library.
The Board agreed that priorities for 2005–2006
included:
1. Being more explicit about building relationships
with government and seeking funding.
2. Continuing to build alliances at the local and
national levels.
3. Acknowledging that fundraising is core business
and the development of a strategic plan for
fundraising is a priority.
4. The work of the Shop is both in cancer prevention
and in fundraising.

Change of Structure

Priorities and Alliances

Kevin White, President

5. Continuing to work on The Cancer Council ACT
having a permanent home.
In relation to point 2, The Council was successful in
building alliances at both the local and the national
level when, in November, in conjunction with
the national consumer body, the Cancer Alliance
Network, we held a Consumer Forum where the latest
developments in cancer research and services were
presented. There were international and local guest
speakers at this very successful event, which was
opened by The Council’s patron, Her Excellency,
Mrs Marlena Jeffery.
Similarly, we were pleased when Winnunga
Nimmityjah, Canberra’s Aboriginal Health Service
accepted The Council’s offer to send a staff member
to The Cancer Council Australia’s forum on Cancer
Control in Indigenous Communities, which was held
in Darwin in August 2004. The Council has worked
with Winnunga Nimmityjah Aboriginal Health Service
over several years, delivering the ‘No More Bundah’
(tobacco) program and looks forward to continuing this
partnership in the future.
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Again, in the area of alliances, there have been
some tentative steps towards the development of
a partnership between The Cancer Council ACT,
Diabetes Australia ACT and the Heart FoundationACT Branch to work on projects of mutual interest.
This is potentially an important collaboration which
can maximise the effect of our health promotion
efforts, and gain efficiencies, by all three organisations
addressing the common risk factors for all three major
diseases together.

Youth Smoking Prevention Project
The final report for the ACT Youth Smoking Prevention
Project was presented at ACT Health this year.
An excerpt is published in this report. Of course
this is just the beginning of the actual work. The
implementation phase will begin next calendar
year led by ACT Health and the Department of
Education and Training. The Board, recognising the
importance of this project and the need to make
it as effective as possible, has agreed to provide
$20,000 for an external evaluation of the first phase
of implementation.

Income Decrease and Effects
on Services
One great disappointment for us this year has been the
substantial drop in income and the subsequent effect
on service delivery.
Our own fundraising has been less successful than
2003–04 by about $70,000, or, in other terms, the
cost of one employee or a substantial research project.
While we are, of course, grateful for the funding we
do receive from government, government funding for
services also dropped this year by nearly $100,000.
It is therefore not surprising that The Council will not
be filling the vacant position of Community Educator:
Youth and Cancer in the foreseeable future. The
position has already been vacant since 1 April 2005.
This is a great loss for the ACT community given the
true dangers of, and broad community concern about,
young people and smoking. Moreover, we foresee
further losses of crucial positions next year as we
are aware we will suffer further cuts in government
funds in 2005-06 and face what seems to be a more
uncertain future with regard to our own fundraising in
the community.
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To show how drastic the reductions in government
funding have been over recent years in actual dollar
terms, a review of past Annual Reports reveals that
in 1997–98 The Cancer Council ACT (then the ACT
Cancer Society) received $368,143 in government
grants but in 2005-06 it will receive a total of only
$190,000 and of this, $40,000, (as was the case
this year too), has to be spent on nicotine replacement
therapy to be given to course participants.
However, there is some good, though perhaps
bittersweet, news in the recognition of the quality of
the work we do in the area of smoking cessation, with
The Council’s Community Educator: Adult Smoking
Cessation and Quitline Coordinator, Patricia Jones,
winning the Healthpact Award for ‘Outstanding
Individual Contribution to Health Promotion in the
ACT 2005’. We sincerely congratulate Patricia on
this well–earned award, but we may not be able to
maintain the work for which she won the award without
government funding being maintained at at least the
existing level. Unfortunately, The Council has been
given notice by Healthpact that it cannot guarantee
that this program for disadvantaged people will be
funded in 2006–07, and that we should begin seeking
another source of funding.

Goals Set and Achieved
This year the goals we set for The Council for
2004–05 and the assessment of whether we
reached them are on the next few pages, as are our
goals for 2005–06.
Finally, once again, thank you to our wonderful,
invaluable volunteers. We could not achieve what
we do without you. Thank you also to our sponsors
and donors. You are very special to support us
so generously.
Of course, many thanks are also due to our sound,
high-functioning Board team and the highly skilled and
hard-working staff it is our privilege to have worked
with this year.

Dr Kevin White
President

Ms Joan Bartlett
Executive Officer

Treasurer’s Report

For year ended 30 June 2005

In the year ended 30 June 2005, The Cancer
Council ACT earned revenue of $1,385,168 (2004:
$1,573,032). The major part of the revenue was made
up of merchandise sales from The Cancer Council
Shop ($196,960), government grants ($381,585),
donations ($104,666) and proceeds of special
events ($596,477).
Aggregate revenue for the year was down on the
previous year by approximately $188,000. The major
contributors to this were decreases in government
grants of approximately $100,000 and a reduction in
revenue earned from special events of $60,000.

David Sly, Treasurer

Operating expenses incurred in delivering Cancer
Council services for 2004–05 were $1,612,368, an
increase of approximately $29,000 on the previous
year. Operating expenses for the year were adversely
affected by costs of relocating office premises from
Kaleen to Fairbairn and cost increases in delivering
projects and grant funded activities.
Based on the revenue earned for the year and
operating expenses incurred in providing services,
an operating loss of $227,200 (2004: $10,221)
was incurred.
Despite the operating loss, the financial structure of
The Cancer Council ACT remains sound. At 30 June
2005, net assets were $738,157 (2004: $965,357).
Liquidity also remained strong with Current Assets
of $729,644 (2004: $1,152,899) against Current
Liabilities of $114,900 (2004: $222,983).

Mr David Sly
Treasurer

TREASURER’S REPORT
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Summary of Services
PROGRAMS AND SERVICES

Cancer Prevention and
Early Detection Program

Cancer Information and
Supportive Care Program

STRATEGIES

Smoking Cessation Service

• Quitline 13 7848 (13 QUIT), a free dedicated line to assist people
who wish to quit smoking
• Smoking cessation education through seminars and courses
• Capacity building with other community organisations particularly
those representing lower SES (socio economic status) groups
• Smoking cessation focussed on disadvantaged groups
• Multimedia resources
• Consultancy
• Health promotion booths

General Cancer Prevention
and Early Detection Service

•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•

Cancer Information Service

• Cancer Helpline 13 11 20, a free dedicated line providing information
and support on all aspects of cancer
• Library and free cancer information resources
• E-mail service and website
• Produce ‘The Council Chronicle’ newsletter
• Consultancy

Supportive Care Service

•
•
•
•
•
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Facilitated support groups
Wig service – wigs and head wear for loan or sale
Volunteer Peer Assistance service
Living With Cancer Education Program
Consultancy

• Provide research grants to quality cancer research projects

Research Program

Enabling Services/ Programs

Health promotion sponsorships with community organisations
Workplace and community cancer awareness sessions
Outdoor worker SunSmart seminars and training sessions
Health promotion booths at events
Development of resources
SunSmart schools program
SunSmart Early Childcare Centre program
Consultancy

Fundraising and Business
Development Program

•
•
•
•
•

Major fundraising special events and other activities
The Cancer Council Shop- sale of sun protection merchandise
Bequest program
Donations
Other fundraising activities

Executive

•
•
•
•

Advocacy
Consultancy
Media
Collaboration with other organisations/stakeholders

ANNUAL REPORT 2004–05

GOALS ACHIEVED 2004–05

GOALS FOR 2005–06

• A 12% increase in contacts to the service with 3524 contacts and
1925 calls to Quitline, an increase of 18% on the previous year
• Of 53 Quit course participants contacted 19 (36%) were still quit
at 6 months
• Work continued in areas of specific inequality: Winnunga, Ninnityjah,
Karralika, Ted Noffs Foundation and YWCA
• HealthPact grant for Quit courses with nicotine replacement
therapy for two community groups with special needs for 2005–06
• Mass media campaign funded through ACT Health
• Presence at community events

• Maintain or increase Quitline call numbers and number of participants
quit at 6 months (19 in 2004–05)
• Maintain or increase number of workplace seminars and courses and
cessation work in areas of specific inequality
• Funding received for mass media campaign/s, particularly promoting the
new Quitline number and the new graphic warnings on cigarette packs
• Maintain presence at community events
• Achieve advocacy goals for smoking cessation in relevant outdoor
areas in ACT
• Remain involved in ACT Youth Smoking
Prevention Project

• Fulfilled Healthpact sponsorships obligations with
6 organisations
• Outdoor Worker Sunsmart Program reached 452 participants in
35 sessions compared with 284 over 15 sessions in 2003–04
• General SunSmart seminar delivered to 113 participants in 5
sessions compared with 75 participants over 5 sessions in 2003–04
• 21 health promotion displays at forums, community events, industry
events, educational institutions and workplaces, duration totalling
about 95 days
• Consultancy provided including Australian Protective Services and
ACT Policing
• Participation in National Skin Cancer Action Week and Spring into
Safety Month
• Number of SunSmart schools increased from 43 to 54, out of a
possible 107 and SunSmart Early Childhood Centre status for
26 centres (12 others participating)
• Provided advice to numerous schools & community groups

• Deliver and evaluate ‘Eating and Moving to Prevent Cancer’ seminar
• Maintain or increase the number of SunSmart Seminars delivered
• Maintain or increase numbers participating in forums that promote
healthy eating and physical activity
• Achieve funding for skin cancer awareness campaign/s
• Increase the number of schools and childhood centres achieving
Sunsmart status by 5 each
• Undertake nutrition and physical activity project with Northside
Community Service (part-funded by Healthpact)
• Maintain same number of health promotion booth/display opportunities
if all considered valuable

• 1,540 calls made to the Cancer Helpline
• Cancer Information packs produced and distributed via the
hospitals/health workers to newly diagnosed cancer patients
in the ACT
• 97890 hits to The Council web site
• Four issues of ‘The Council Chronicle’ produced
• Reached an estimated 48% of people affected by cancer
in the ACT

•
•
•
•
•

• Reached an estimated 13% of people living with cancer overall
(patients and carers)
• Overall numbers for support groups much the same as previous year
with an increase of 18 contacts in 2004–05
• Illness and Journey group ceased, Carers group ceased, Pink Links
evolved into ongoing group, and new Thursday Night group for cancer
patients and carers began
• Contacts to the wig service down approximately 23% on previous year
• Living With Cancer Education Program not held due to lack of numbers
• Peer Assistance referrals remained low, new volunteers recruited

• Maintain, evaluate and strengthen support services as necessary
• Provide Living With Cancer Education Program for people who have
advanced cancer
• Conduct audit of Peer Assistance volunteers, conduct update training
as indicated, recruit new volunteers to address unmet needs, and
target promotion in order to increase referrals

• The Council granted over $50,000 towards cancer research and
related projects in the ACT

• Continue to fund suitable cancer research projects in the ACT

• Fundraising events raised $596,477
• Raised the highest amount per head of population for Daffodil Day
and third highest for ABMT of any other state or territory
Cancer Council
• The Cancer Council ACT Shop net profit: $31,900
• Donations income $104,666
• Introduction of new fundraising event ‘Girls Night In’

• Maintain or exceed the funds raised for 2004–05, ideally exceed funds
raised in The Council’s best year, 2003–04, which raised $656,617
(events)+ $115,374 (donations).
• Make Relay for Life the largest fundraising event exceeding Daffodil Day
(2002–03) which raised $214,542
• Further develop donor appeal acquisition campaigns
• Seek and develop new fundraising opportunities
• Further develop the Bequest Program

• Sent The Cancer Council Australia’s Cancer Priorities Issues for the
Federal Election to all ACT candidates in the 9 October 2004 federal
election. Calling for their commitment to the 8 priorities set out in
the document

• Advocate for elimination of smoking in open areas where there are
other people

Maintain or exceed number of calls to the Cancer Helpline
Publish and distribute Cancer Services Directory A.C.T 2006–07
Continue to improve the web site
Develop publicity/promotion strategy
Aim to reach over 50% of people affected by cancer in the ACT

SUMMARY OF SERVICES
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Mission Delivery
Reducing the incidence and impact of cancer in the ACT

Single Message Activities
TOBACCO CONTROL
Tobacco smoking is still the most preventable cause
of premature death and morbidity in Australia. The
Adult Smoking Cessation Service within The Council
aims to reduce the impact of tobacco smoking through
providing information, advice and support to smokers
who want to quit, as well as working to prevent uptake
to smoking.
Tobacco control services provided by The Cancer
Council ACT include the Quitline, quit smoking courses
for groups and individuals; quit smoking seminars;
service promotional seminars; and Quitskills (‘train the
trainer’) seminars.
We have four target groups:
1. people who smoke (cessation services);
2. groups which contain smokers and young people
who have not yet taken up smoking (cessation/
prevention services);
3. very young people who have not yet taken up
smoking (prevention services); and
4. health professionals who want to learn how to help
their clients stop smoking ( increasing community
capacity services).
In 2004–05, there were a total of 3,524 contacts
made with The Council’s Smoking Cessation Service,
this is an increase of 11% on the 3,147 contacts
made in 2003–04. Client contact is defined as each
separate occasion of contact a client has with staff of
the Smoking Cessation Service.
The Council is pleased to note the cumulative positive
effects of having provided smoking cessation services
in areas of specific disadvantage for a number of
years. As a result of our relationship over the past
five years with Samaritan House, a St Vincent de
Paul refuge for homeless men, Samaritan House now
provides nicotine replacement therapy for clients with
a smoking-related illness who want to quit smoking.
We also look forward to continuing our partnership of
several years with Winnunga Nimmityjah Aboriginal
Health Service where we deliver the ‘No More Bundah’
(tobacco) program.
As well as providing smoking cessation courses
for clients and staff of drug treatment agencies in
the ACT, The Council has trained staff in nicotine
addiction and techniques that the staff can use to
effect smoking cessation in their clients. This work
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John Thorn, Manager,
Client Services

Patricia Jones, Community
Educator: Quit Smoking

in increasing community capacity is most important
as it increases the likelihood that those who need
assistance to quit smoking will receive it. However,
it appears that this will not be widespread practice in
the near future as a recent national survey1 of attitudes
and practices in relation to smoking cessation
interventions in Australian drug treatment agencies
has shown an urgent need to address negative staff
attitudes which are impeding progress in this area.

Quitline
The Quitline is a telephone service available around
Australia to help smokers who want to quit. Anyone
in Australia can call the Quitline for the cost of a
local call (if calls are made from a mobile phone,
mobile phone charges apply). A new Quitline number
— 13 7848 (13 QUIT) — is now in operation.
The old Quitline number — 131 848 — will continue
to operate for approximately 12 months.
The number of Quitline calls this year was 1925,
compared with 1630 last year. A mass media
advertising campaign helped boost the number of
calls. The campaign was commissioned by The Council
and paid for with funding received from ACT Health.

Quit Smoking Courses
Quit smoking courses are offered to individuals,
community groups and workplaces and consist of
either a 1 hour session once a week for 8 weeks,
or a weekly 2 hour session for 4 weeks.
The Council provided a total of 58 courses in
2004–05 for those who wanted to quit smoking and
those being educated not to start — 7 workplace

1 Walsh RA, Bowman JA, Tzelepis F, Lecathelinais C. Smoking
cessation interventions in Australian drug treatment agencies: a
national survey of attitudes and practices. Drug Alcohol Review
2005; 24:235–244

courses, 7 for community groups, 8 for young people
and 36 individual courses. This is more than the
49 courses provided in 2003–04.
An evaluation of the service shows that in 2004–05,
of 53 course participants contacted 6 months after
completion of a Quit course, 19 or 36% were still
quit, this is a slight improvement on the 33 or 33%
who quit in 2003–04 (less post-course contacts were
made this year).
In addition we also provided 10 building community
capacity courses for health professionals who learned
the skills to help them help their clients to quit.
Details of the target groups and course settings
are as follows:

• Department of Immigration, Multicultural and
Indigenous Affairs – 2 courses
• National Galley (second consecutive year
providing a course)
• Media Monitors

Quit Smoking Seminars
Provided for:
• Ainslie Football and Social Club
• Australian Communication Authority
• Burton and Garran Hall, Australian National
University
• Department of Justice and Community Safety

Cessation/Prevention Courses for Young People

• Gerald Slaven Motors, Belconnen

Provided at:
• Gungahlin Lakes Community and Golf Club
• Canberra High School
• Inanna Women’s Shelter
• Copland College
• Jindalee Nursing Home
• Kambah High School (for students and parents)
• Queanbeyan Nursing Home
• Lake Tuggeranong College
• Samaritan House
• Wanniassa High School
• Southern Cross 10
• Ted Noffs Foundation (3 courses)

Cessation Community Courses/Specific
Disadvantage
• Karinya House for Mothers and Babies
Participants in the following courses were also
supplied with nicotine replacement therapy (NRT).
• YWCA – BAC Flats (Bega, Allawah, Currong)
government flats.

Service Promotion Seminars
Four Cessation Seminars were provided in workplaces
to promote the Adult Smoking Cessation Courses.
Most of these workplaces responded by commissioning
a full course for their employees.

Prevention Seminars For Primary School Students
• 2 Drug Summits – at Urambi and Kaleen
Primary Schools

• Belconnen Mental Health Service (1 course)
• Karralika Therapeutic Community (2 courses)
• Winnunga Nimmityjah Aboriginal Health Service
(2 courses)

Individual Cessation Courses
36 individual courses were provided, including a
number provided to clients with a mental health
problem and refugees.

Workplace Cessation Courses

• Information Session for Year 5 and 6 students
St Benedict’s School.

Cessation/Prevention Seminars For High School
Students and Parent Groups
• During Drug Action Week for Year 9 and 10 groups
at Campbell High School.
• Three community information sessions were
presented at primary schools in conjunction
with the development of the ACT Youth Smoking
Prevention Project.

Provided for:
• Australian Government Solicitor
• Department of Finance and Administration –
2 courses – for Departmental staff and Comcar
staff (this was the third consecutive year of
providing the program for this Department)

TOBACCO CONTROL
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Number of Client Contacts, Courses and Seminars
– Cessation Services
Type

2004–05
Contacts/
Courses/
Seminars

2003–04 2002–03
Contacts/ Contacts/
Courses/ Courses/
Seminars Seminars

Workplace Courses

158/7

147/7

372/13

Community Courses

432/7

232/5

589/14

Tertiary Courses
Youth Cessation Courses

112/3

58/37

68/26

Cessation Seminars
• Service Promotion
Seminars

99/16

807/10*

234*

Quitline Calls

1,925

1,630

1,156

30/4

2,974/78

3,024/59 2,531/56

* From this year seminars have been further categorised according
to their objective viz Cessation; Cessation/Prevention and
Prevention. It is not possible to similarly break down the numbers
from previous years and there is no data on the number of courses
for tertiary and cessation seminars for previous years.

Number of Client Contacts and Seminars –
Cessation and Prevention Services
Type

2004–05
Contacts/Seminars

Cessation and Prevention Seminars
(High Schools and Parent Groups)

160/5

Total

160/5

Number of Client Contacts and Seminars –
Prevention Services
Type

2004–05
Contacts/Seminars

Prevention Seminars – Primary Drug
Summits and Presentations
(Primary Schools)

345/3

Total

345/3

Courses to Build Community Capacity to
Help Others Quit
Staff training was provided on nicotine addiction
and educating to effect smoking cessation in their
clients at:
• Belconnen Mental Health – provided with
written materials
• Karinya House for Mothers and Babies
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• Ted Noffs Foundation
• The Canberra Hospital (cardiothoracic unit staff)
• Winnunga Nimmityjah Aboriginal Health

212/8

118/36

Total

• Queanbeyan Hospital (maternity and
pharmacy staff)

Number of Client Contacts/Courses –
Increasing Community Capacity Services

150

Student Leader Courses
(not provided since
2002–03)
Individual Courses

• Karralika Therapeutic Community

THE CANCER COUNCIL ACT
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Type

Learning to Help Others
To Quit (for Health
Professionals)

2004–05
Contacts/
Courses
45/10

2003–04 2002–03
Contacts/ Contacts/
Courses
Courses
123/11

92/6

Quit Television Advertising Campaign
Mass media advertising is known to be one of the
most effective ways to induce smokers to quit and
to influence young people to decide not to become
smokers. With these purposes in mind, The Cancer
Council ACT ran a television Quit smoking campaign
during July 2004 to March 2005.
The advertisements selected for the campaign were
a combination of the National Tobacco Campaign’s
‘Every Cigarette is Doing You Harm’ and Quit
Victoria’s call to action Quitline series. The campaign
was conducted over a nine month period targeting
the lower socioeconomic groups in the ACT by
concentrating on daytime television slots. This was
cheaper and captured a significant group of people
with much higher smoking rates than the average.
ACT Health provided $75,000 for the campaign.
The funding also included a limited amount for an
additional resource to handle the projected increase in
calls to the Quitline.
The results were very impressive and strongly
supported the current evidence that this is one of
the most important strategies in effecting smoking
cessation. The total calls for July 2004 to March 2005
were 1,570. A comparison with the previous year (July
2003 to March 2004) shows an overall 58% increase
in calls: 1,570 vs 991.
There was a significant increase in each of the
three quarters in which the campaign was run when
compared to the previous year. However, this result
is still likely to be understated because the second
quarter was subject to particular problems that
resulted in a lower number of recorded calls than is
likely to have been the case because of the following
unusual circumstances:

• In early December The Council moved to new
premises which resulted in phone line interruptions
and significant downtime in email and internet
for December.
• The transfer of calls to NSW Quitline in late
December (Quit counsellor on leave) meant that
two weeks of calls were not attributed to the ACT.

Distribution of Quit Resources
The Council distributed a smoking cessation video
widely throughout the ACT. This video, ‘Health Smart
– Nicotine Replacement Therapy’ was produced and
supplied by NSW Health. It is now available in all
ACT hospitals, libraries, health centres, and tertiary
institutions.
As well as the Quit information distributed through the
multi-message activities mentioned elsewhere, Quit
Kits and posters were supplied for the Salvation Army,
Samaritan House, government departments, medical
centres, private companies and to students.

Health Promotion Booth – Tobacco
Control Specific
Quit information and quit kits were provided to the
public at stalls at the Drug Action Week ‘Gala’ in
Garema Place.

Health Promotion Award
The Council’s Community Educator: Quit
Smoking received the award for ‘Outstanding
Individual Contribution to Health Promotion in
the ACT’ 2005.

ACT Youth Smoking Prevention Project
The following material has been taken from the final
report of the ACT Youth Smoking Prevention Project.
It is important to note that the report has yet to be
accepted by ACT Health.

Preface
In May 2003 ACT Health issued a Request for Tender
to market test the ‘Smarter Than Smoking’ program of
youth smoking prevention and develop, implement and
evaluate a local strategy aimed at a target population
of youth. The ‘Smarter Than Smoking’ youth smoking
prevention model was developed and implemented in
Western Australia.
This tender was developed in response to the findings
of a scoping paper prepared in October 2001 entitled
‘Towards a Youth Smoking Prevention Strategy for
the ACT’ (ACT DHCC, 2001) which reviewed the then
current research and models and recommended a
strategy based on the ‘Smarter Than Smoking’ model.
The Cancer Council ACT was awarded the project with
a contract period of 2 years to develop an effective
and sustainable local strategy for youth smoking
prevention – the ACT Youth Smoking Prevention
Project (ACT YSPP). The target group is defined as
youth aged 12 to 18 years with specific emphasis on
the 14 and 15 year age groups.
A Project Management Committee was established
in July 2003 comprising representatives from
ACT Health, ACT Department of Education and
Training, The Cancer Council ACT and youth. Ad hoc
committees were also established to examine and
evaluate various issues.
Researchers were commissioned to undertake both the
specific social researching with young people and the
literature review and final report.

Executive Summary
One in two lifetime smokers will die from diseases
caused by tobacco with half dying in middle age.
It is known that most smokers begin smoking when
they are young. While smoking prevalence amongst
Australian school children remained relatively
steady during the 1990s, the latest data suggests a
recent decline.

Patricia Jones, Community Educator: Quit Smoking receiving
the award from Ian White, ACT Health.

In Australia youth smoking prevention policies are
largely developed by each state and territory. The
concerns in the ACT context are that, while the latest
information suggests an overall decrease in smoking,
rates are still high in older age groups and particularly
females in the 16–17 age groups. Data from other
states supports the conclusion that smoking rates
among 16 and 17 year olds are still worryingly high.
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Comprehensive community-wide program
Three decades of adolescent smoking prevention
research show that comprehensive community-wide
approaches offer the most promise for long-term
reductions in adolescent smoking. The National
Tobacco Strategy 2004–2009, endorsed by the ACT,
also supports a comprehensive multifaceted approach
to tobacco control, recognising that a range of interlinked measures is required to discourage tobacco use.
It is recommended that the ACT YSPP undertake
a comprehensive community-wide approach using
a range of interlinked interventions and strategies.
Formation of a steering committee involving key
government departments and community health
agencies active in the youth tobacco field, would be a
valuable starting point for this initiative.
A youth-based smoking prevention strategy must be
conducted as part of a comprehensive public health
strategy that addresses tobacco smoking in the whole
ACT community including both adults and youth.
Theoretical issues
The ACT YSPP should be sufficiently grounded
in an appropriate behaviour change theory. A
comprehensive, community-wide intervention should
be underpinned by a “systems’ based behaviour
change model.
Models for a comprehensive community-wide program
Systematic reviews of comprehensive communitywide smoking prevention programs aimed at youth,
recommend adopting strategies from programs, which
have demonstrated the most success in decreasing
youth smoking rates.
The ‘Smarter than Smoking’ Program package of
interventions from Western Australia, are likely to be
the most culturally appropriate, and require the least
amount of adaptation for the ACT population. The
‘Smarter than Smoking’ Program targets youth 10-17
years while the ACT YSPP aims to target youth 12-18
years, thus formative and developmental research
would be required to properly adapt the ‘Smarter than
Smoking’ Program to the unique needs of the ACT
target group. ‘The Smarter than Smoking’ Program
would, however, be a relevant model for the ACT YSPP
and savings realised through adapting an existing
program could free resources for use in a more direct
program applications.
Program Components
The ACT YSPP should incorporate a range
of interlinked measures and strategies in the
comprehensive community-wide approach. The current
literature suggests that to be most effective the
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package of interventions should include: school-based
prevention programs, mass media strategies, cessation
support for youth and parents, information and
support for parents to help them reinforce prevention
efforts happening at the macro level, and advocacy to
reduce tobacco promotion and access. Other elements
for which there is some evidence include: the use of
competitions and clubs, peer education, and the use of
the Internet and interactive technologies. All of these
elements could be used as complementary strategies
to extend the reach health promotion messages and
to engage youth outside of school settings. While
there is little in the way of published evidence on the
effectiveness of health promotion sponsorship as an
anti-tobacco strategy, the Healthpact sponsorship
programs are well established in the ACT, and reach
adolescents in settings outside of schools in nontraditional environments. Healthpact SmokeFree
sponsored programs, if proven successful when
subject to an outcome evaluation, should be linked
into the ACT YSPP as a complementary strategy.
The following sub sections will further address the
main recommended program components.
Mass media strategies
Mass media anti-tobacco advertising should be used
in the ACT YSPP to reinforce and support other
strategies. Advertising concepts pre-tested with a
representative sample of ACT youth should be used
and a mixture of messages should be used to target
different segments of the adolescent population.
The literature suggests that the most effective
advertising approach is to use a variety of messages in
combination with self-efficacy messages.
Media expertise should be used and ads carefully
scheduled so that messages remain salient to
adolescents. Where possible a unified approach to
mass media advertising should be taken, so that
effects are not “diluted” by other anti-smoking
advertising. The campaign will also need to be of
sufficient intensity to effect change. Media expertise
should be consulted regarding the most appropriate
mode and mix of advertising ie. deciding the
proportion of each medium: cinema, radio, television
and print advertising for the campaign.
School-based strategies
School based strategies have been well researched
and there is a substantial evidence base for programs
which apply the social influences or social competence
approaches in a curriculum for classroom based
activities. There are a number of programs that have
been applied in Australian settings which focus on
the “development of personal skills”, these would fit
the social influences/competence models and would
also be easily adapted to the ACT. The Smoke screen

package from the NSW Department of Education and
Training is recommended as the most useful for
the ACT.
It is imperative that school-based programs go beyond
providing a curriculum focused on development of
personal skills in isolation, and embrace an approach
where these skills are integrated into broader social
context of the school, including changes to school
policy and ethos, and the school-home-community
environment as recommended by the WHO health
promoting school concept.
The Cancer Council project ‘Girls Stress and Smoking’
and the MacKillop Catholic College program may
serve as models for establishing a broad school-based
program for the ACT subject to evaluation.
The Department of Education and Community
Services, the Catholic Education office, and the
Association of Independent Schools will be key
partners in ensuring a comprehensive coordinated
schools approach.
Cessation Services for Youth
The results of the ACT Alcohol and Tobacco Use
Study demonstrate a need for cessation services for
ACT adolescents, as there is a steady movement from
experimental to regular smoking as adolescents age.
Generally in the literature, comprehensive communitywide prevention programs that have incorporated
cessation services have been more successful than
those that have not offered a cessation service.
The Cancer Council ACT’s smoking cessation service
should be evaluated and expanded as an important
part of the ACT YSPP. Formative research into the
“cessation preferences” of ACT youth would assist
in developing this program further. The MacKillop
Catholic College ‘UnHooked’ program may also offer
insights into how to best structure cessation services
for ACT youth.
Cessation Services for Parents
Opportunities clearly exist to influence adolescent
smoking through cessation programs for parents.
There is convincing evidence to show that adolescents
are much less likely to be regular smokers when their
parents never smoke, or when parents successfully
quit smoking.
The Cancer Council ACT smoking cessation service
represents an important resource for the ACT YSPP. A
review should be conducted to determine the feasibility
of this service being offered to all parents through a
community-based program. At a minimum, the Cancer
Council’s program should be widely promoted and
consideration given to increasing funding to meet the
increased demand that wide promotion would create.

Mass media campaigns should also target parents,
appealing to them to quit smoking for their children’s
sake. The NSW program’ Car and Home Smokefree
Zone’ when evaluated, may provide direction in how
to encourage parents not willing to quit, to maintain
Smokefree environments for their children.
Information and Support for Parents
Parents represent a tremendous untapped resource
in the prevention of youth smoking. All areas of the
ACT YSPP should aim to engage parents, particularly
school-based programs and advocacy efforts.
Parents need to be equipped with information and
skills which will help them be effective supporters
and reinforcers of anti-smoking messages. The ACT
YSPP should aim to inform parents of the benefits
of quitting smoking, and the benefits of maintaining
a smoke free home. Evaluations from the NSW ‘Car
and Home Smokefree Zone’ may provide direction on
implementing this recommendation. Parents should
also be encouraged and equipped with skills to
communicate their disproval of smoking, and to
give positive reinforcement for maintaining a
smoke-free status.
Parents should be educated on the indirect tobacco
promotions occurring in movies, television, and on
the Internet. Raising parents’ awareness of tobacco
product placement, and equipping parents with skills
to engage youth in discussions about smoking norms,
would substantially reinforce efforts to deglamorise
tobacco use. Raising parents’ awareness is also
likely to have the indirect effect of increasing parents
supervision of their children’s movie choices; and
some parents may support or initiate advocacy efforts
around movie ratings and tobacco in the media.
Advocacy to reduce tobacco promotion and access
The ACT YSPP should incorporate advocacy strategies
to reduce tobacco promotion and access. Advocacy
efforts should target restricting point of sale
advertising and cigarette displays; eliminating selfservice vending machines; raising the “real” price of
cigarette; and eliminating smaller sized packets. The
reform of the Smoke Free Areas Act and restriction on
exemptions should receive public endorsement from
the ACT YSPP.
Curtailing non-retail sources of tobacco should be
addressed through raising awareness of the community
of non-retail sources and the offence involved in
supplying cigarettes.
Funding
There is evidence that there is a direct relationship
between levels of funding and the success of
comprehensive community-wide programs.

TOBACCO CONTROL
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The ACT YSPP should be funded at a minimum
of $A8.75–10 dollars per ACT youth aged
12–17 per year.
Evaluation and publication
The ACT YSPP will have a valuable contribution to
make to Australian research and program planning,
and it is imperative that the program be subjected
to a comprehensive evaluation, and results are
disseminated widely, including publication in
peer-reviewed literature.
Evaluation of the ACT YSPP should involve, baseline
data on youth smoking rates, and be compared to
youth smoking rates at the end of the program. There
should also be process evaluations conducted for each
of the interventions to determine their effectiveness.
There should be an evaluation, overall after the
program has been implemented for 1 year, and again
at the conclusion of the program.

PROTECTION FROM
ULTRAVIOLET RADIATION

Ross Buchanan, Community
Educator: General Cancer
Prevention and Early Detection.

Ultraviolet radiation is the
cause of the vast majority
of skin cancers in Australia.
Skin cancer is the most
common and costly cancer
in Australia. Each year more
than 370,000 Australians
are diagnosed with skin
cancer and about 1,200
die from the disease. Skin
cancer is a preventable
cancer that is easily
detected at an early and
treatable stage.

The Cancer Council Australia’s National Cancer
Prevention Policy 2004–2006 lists national health
promotion strategies aimed at effecting skin cancer
prevention and early detection. These include
increased identification of skin cancers, in particular
in older Australians, improved sun protection
practices amongst outdoor workers, and protection
of young people in education and care settings from
ultra-violet radiation.

Workplace Strategies
SunSmart Seminars and Education Sessions
The purpose of seminars and education sessions is to
increase SunSmart awareness amongst participants
and to provide access to cancer information resources
with the ultimate goal of having the participants adopt
Sunsmart behaviours on all appropriate occasions.
The Council provided 35 education sessions to outdoor
worker groups with 452 participants; and 5 general
SunSmart sessions with a total of 113 participants.
The number of sessions and the number of
participants at both seminars increased in comparison
to last year.
The following sessions were provided:
• 6 education sessions for Queanbeyan City Council
with 80 participants from various council sections;
• 15 sessions for CITEA (Construction Industry
Training and Employment Association) with
115 apprentices from various sectors of the
local construction industry;
• 6 sessions for ACTEW-AGL (Lower Molonglo Water
Quality Control Centre) with 57 participants; and
• 1 session for workers at Canberra CFMEU worksite
about the importance of regular skin checks.

Outdoor Worker SunSmart Sessions 2004–05
Provided for:
• ABC Television
• ACTEW-AGL
• ACT Policing
• ANU Gardening Department
• Canberra Horticulture
• Construction Industry Training and
Employment Association
• Emoleum
• QANTAS
• Queanbeyan City Council

General SunSmart Sessions
Provided for:

During 2004–05 The Council focused on raising
awareness of skin cancer amongst outdoor workers
and the general population by providing information,
courses and consultancy.

• Australian Bureau of Statistics
• Children’s Services Resource Advisory Program
• COMCARE
• Department of Communications Information
Technology and the Arts
• Department of Veterans’ Affairs
• QANTAS
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Workplace Resources Developed

Number of SunSmart Seminars
40

2003–04

2004–05

Number of Seminars

30

The Council has developed several workplace
resources to both assist workplaces to promote healthy
messages and raise awareness amongst key workplace
personnel of the services offered by The Council.
These include the following:
• CD-ROM resource
The purpose of developing this resource was to
provide a convenient means for key workplace
personnel to access information about cancer
prevention and early detection. Organisations use
this resource to assist in policy development and
promote healthy messages to staff.

20

10

• Resource to assist employers of outdoor workers to
develop effective UV protection policy development

0
Outdoor Worker SunSmart

General SunSmart

Type of Seminar

Number of Participants in SunSmart Seminars
500

2003–04

2004–05

The purpose of this resource is to assist workplaces
and employers to more easily adopt effective
SunSmart policy and practice. During 2004–05,
a total of 75 of these resources were distributed
to organisations, which included ACT Workcover,
the ACT Chamber of Commerce and Industry, and
Workwatch Training Centre.
• SunSmart Information pack For Workers
ACT Workcover and the Master Builders Association
distributed about 400 SunSmart information
packs which formed the basis for The Council’s
participation in the 2004 Spring into Safety Month.

Number of Participants

400

300

• Distribution of Pamphlets/Joint Newspaper
Promotion

200

100

0
Outdoor Worker SunSmart

General SunSmart

Type of Seminar

Feedback from workplace contacts and supervisors
has been very positive. For example, a number of
workplaces advised that they would improve their
sun protection policy and provision of sun protective
equipment to staff.

Consultancy
During 2004–05 The Council provided advice on
protective equipment and clothing, and SunSmart
policy. Clients during 2004–05 included: Canberra
Horticulture; ACT Policing; Australian Protective
Services and University of Canberra.

The Council collaborated with the CFMEU
(Construction, Forestry, Mining and Energy
Union) construction industry workers to provide
information regarding skin cancer early detection.
The CMFEU and The Council jointly bought
space in The Canberra Times for Skin Cancer
Action Week. Through the CFMEU, The Council
distributed ‘How to Check for Skin Cancer’ flyers
to the union membership.

Young People and UV Protection
Awards of Sunsmart Status to Schools and
Early Childcare Centres
The Council implements both the National SunSmart
Schools Program and the Early Childcare Centre
Program in the ACT. Both programs aim to motivate
and assist primary schools and early childcare centres
to develop and implement a comprehensive sun
protection policy that meets minimum standards
relating to curriculum and educational play
experiences, behaviour and the environment. Through
the program, schools and early childcare centres work
to meet specified sun protection standards and gain
SunSmart status from The Council.

PROTECTION FROM ULTRAVIOLET RADIATION
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During 2004–05 an additional 11 primary schools
achieved SunSmart status. This is an increase from
43 Sunsmart primary schools in 2003–04, to 54 by
the end of 2004–05. The Council has now been able
to award SunSmart status to half the primary schools
in the ACT region, with a further 13 schools working
towards SunSmart status.

organisations around Canberra as part of workplace
health promotion.
In 2005-06 these seminars will be provided with
the content being drawn from `Cancer: Reduce Your
Risk – Eating and Moving to Prevent Cancer’, a health
promotion resource recently developed by The Cancer
Council Australia.

During 2004–05 The Council implemented the
National Early Childcare Centre program incorporating
preschools, long day care centres and occasional day
care centres.

• most centres supplied sunscreen for children
attending;
• a majority of centres required children to wear sun
protective clothing for the entire year;
• the most common types of hats worn by children
whilst attending centres were legionnaire-style and
those with broad brims.
One area of need identified was that whilst most
centres include sun protection in their education
program only half indicated they had resources to
promote SunSmart education. A goal for 2005–06 will
be promoting the set of 6 ‘SunSmart Teaching Posters’
for distribution throughout the sector.
The Council has begun collaborating with the
Children’s Services’ Resource Advisory Program
(CSRAP) to raise awareness of sun protection amongst
early childcare centre workers and raise the profile
of the National SunSmart Early Childcare Program.
CSRAP is a Lady Gowrie-affiliated centre that
promotes best practice in early childcare settings.

160

Seminars

Participants

140

Number of Seminars/Participants

To assist implementation The Council conducted
a survey of early childcare centres in the ACT
during 2004–05, to assess SunSmart behaviour,
environment and policy. A total of 68 centres returned
questionnaires to The Council. Some findings from the
survey were:

Cancer Prevention Seminars

120
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80
60
40
20
0

2003–04

2004–05
Year

The Council also acts as a model to the community
by providing nutritious food at its own public
functions and is a member of several active
Committees devoted to increasing the Australian
population in greater involvement in physical activity
and eating more healthily.

Multi-Prevention
Message Activities

New Parents Information Pack

CANCER PREVENTION AND PRUDENT
EARLY DETECTION

The Council also supplied resources for inclusion
in the New Parents Information Pack that Kidsafe
supplies to all new parents in the ACT region.

The Cancer Council ACT promotes five main messages
in its mission to prevent cancer:
1. Avoid tobacco smoke

NUTRITION AND PHYSICAL ACTIVITY
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2. Protect your skin from the sun at the
appropriate times

Workplace Strategies

3. Eat a nutritious diet

Seminars

4. Be physically active

The Cancer Council’s Cancer Prevention Seminars
bring together key messages about sun safety,
nicotine addiction, the importance of physical activity,
and healthy eating. During 2004–05 The Council
presented 7 sessions for 137 participants in various

5. Be vigilant to detect cancer early (caution
required in case of some cancers – see
Early Detection section)

THE CANCER COUNCIL ACT
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Where there are synergies to be had or where it has
been requested that we do so, The Council promotes
all the above cancer prevention messages together
through a variety of modes such as those listed below:

General Cancer Prevention Seminars
• Chief Minister’s Department
• Department of Education Science and Technology
• Department of Immigration Multicultural and
Indigenous Affairs
• Department of Transport and Regional Services
• Mallesons Stephen Jaques
• Sparke Helmore

Sponsorship of Sporting and Cultural Bodies
This year The Council once again accepted the
partner role in a number of Healthpact sponsorships.
Healthpact, the government funded body for Health
promotion in the ACT provides some financial support,
to The Council for its partnership role in ‘sponsorships’
of selected community and sporting organisations.
The four health messages that must be promoted via
these sponsorships are: being smoke free; protecting
oneself from damaging UV rays; eating healthily;
and engaging in sufficient physical activity. Because
sport is the main business of most of the sponsored
organisations, it is most likely that physical activity
is the message that is most strongly understood and
practised as a result of these sponsorships.
The Council focused on assisting sponsored
organisations to promote the four health messages to
their membership and clientele through:
• providing regular newsletter messages and
information resources;
• setting up displays at events including the Royal
Canberra Show and the Canberra Women’s Classic
tennis event; and
• monitoring and evaluating the cancer prevention
messages presented by development officers at
schools’ sports clinics.
During the 2004–05 financial year the following
organisations were The Council’s partners in
Healthpact sponsorships:
• ACT Orienteering Association
• Basketball Canberra
• Canberra Youth Music
• Royal National Capital Agricultural Society –
Royal Canberra Show
• Soccer Canberra

Health Promotion Booths and Information Displays
Health Promotion Booths are stands or display tables
offering a wide variety of resources to the participants
in particular events who visit the booth or display.
Sometimes, such as at the Royal Canberra Show the
booth is staffed and sometimes it is not. Material
on offer includes information on specific cancers,
and general cancer prevention and early detection
information. One always very popular display is the
“body parts”. The morgue at The Canberra Hospital
kindly lends us preserved body parts which have
been affected by various cancers. These provide great
starting points to discuss the importance of cancer
prevention and prudent early detection.
Booths or displays were setup at all the following
events/organisations for a period totalling about
95 days during the year:
• ACT Multicultural Festival
• Australian Communications Authority
• Australian Government Solicitors
• Breastscreen ACT – breast cancer information
display
• Canberra College, Weston Campus –
resilience forum
• Canberra Institute of Technology – student health
promotion days at various campuses
• Chief Minister’s Event
• Department of Communications Information
Technology and the Arts
• Department of Transport and Regional Services
• QANTAS Airways
• The Canberra Hospital – various displays in the
reception area
• Royal Canberra Show 2005
• University of Canberra – staff and student health
promotion days
• Utilities National 2004 Event

Provision of a Library Service
The Council’s library has over 1500 publications on
cancer and cancer related topics including oncology
journals, educational resources, statistical reports,
self-help books and tapes and CDs on relaxation
and meditation.
The library continues to be popular with cancer
patients and their family members and is also used
by students. A computer in the library, is provided to
allow clients unlimited access to the Internet. Staff are

• Tennis ACT

CANCER PREVENTION AND PRUDENT EARLY DETECTION
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available to assist clients in finding their way through
the web and offer a list of websites known to provide
reliable and authoritative information.

Newsletter
Four editions of The Cancer Chronicle, The Council’s
quarterly newsletter, were published in 2004–05. This
publication contains news articles on relevant topics
relating to cancer as well as updates on The Council’s
events and programs. The newsletter is distributed to
over 400 members and organisations in the ACT.

Newspaper Promotion
The Council maintained regular promotion of all the
cancer prevention messages editorial and advertising
space in features purchased in The Canberra Times
and The Chronicle newspapers.

PRUDENT EARLY DETECTION OF CANCER
Caution Regarding All Cancer Detection Activity
The Health Report on ABC Radio National recently
aired a program about the pros and cons of cancer
screening. After the program Professor Alan Coates,
Chief Executive Officer of The Cancer Council Australia
was quoted in The Weekend Australian 20/08/05 as
saying ‘screening always does harm and sometimes
does good. We know in some diseases the good
outweighs the harm – in breast cancer and bowel
cancer, and we are almost certain in cervical cancer.
But in other cases such as testing for prostate cancer,
a positive results starts a cascade of pressure to do
something abut it even though many of the detected
cancers would prove harmless if left alone.’

Prostate Cancer
The Council delivered a seminar, based on a
presentation developed by The Cancer Council
Victoria, for the Men’s Health Peer Education
Facilitator Training Course run by the Department of
Veterans’ Affairs. The seminar included resources from
The Cancer Council Australia and Andrology Australia.

Breast Cancer
The Council collaborated with Breastscreen ACT and
Bosom Buddies to present a month-long joint display
at the ACT Health building in Canberra City. The
topics covered included breast cancer early detection,
mammography and treatment options.
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Cancer Information and Supportive Care Program
Reducing the incidence and impact of cancer in the ACT

CANCER INFORMATION SERVICE
The Cancer Information Service (CIS) aims to reduce
the impact of cancer in the ACT region through the
provision of up-to-date, evidence-based information
on all aspects of cancer to people with cancer, their
families and carers, health professionals and the
general public.
The service does not provide medical advice but does
provide information, emotional support and referral
to The Council’s Supportive Care services or other
relevant services in the community.

Irene Durant, Cancer
Information Consultant

There were 1,653 contacts made to the Cancer
Information Service in the 2004–05 financial year
representing about a 16% increase on last year.

The Cancer Information Service provides
information through:
• The Cancer Helpline on the national number
13 11 20;

The telephone is by far the most used tool we have for
assisting our clients. This is our core service because
it makes a major contribution to the fulfilment of both
our major goals, to reduce the incidence and impact of
cancer in the ACT. Visits and email queries were both
down on the previous year and down by half in the last
half of the financial year, this is probably due to our
relocation to Fairbairn and severe difficulties with our
e-mail and Internet reception from early December
2004 to mid May 2005.

• written publications;
• a quarterly newsletter: The Council Chronicle;
• a lending library;
• email and website services; and
• a walk-in consultation service.

Number of contacts made with the Cancer Information Service
Method of Contact
Telephone

2004–05
Clients

2003–04
Clients

2002–03
Clients

2004–05
Percentage

2003–04
Percentage

2002–03
Percentage

1,540

1231

1,416

93.2%

88%

93.8%

Visit

63

92

58

3.8%

7%

3.8%

E-mail

45

60

29

2.7%

4%

2.0%

5

11

6

0.3%

1%

0.4%

1,653

1,394

1,509*

100%

100%

100%

Fax and mail
Total

* 2002–03 was an unusual year as in July 2002 there were 317 contacts to the CIS, more than double the average of 118 contacts per month
for that year. This was due to national media coverage in July 2002 of a report outlining the increased risk of breast cancer for women taking
hormone replacement therapy (HRT) and the media’s promotion of the Cancer Helpline as the ‘HRT Hotline’.

Cancer Information Service Contacts
2004–05
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Why Called
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Who Calls CIS

For the cost of a local call, callers are connected to an
experienced cancer information consultant who can
provide information on all aspects of cancer and offer
support to those affected by the disease. The service
is confidential and callers may remain anonymous if
they wish. The Cancer Information Consultants also
use a computerised database containing a list of
services to which referral in the local region may be
made if appropriate.

Percentage of Contacts
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A breakdown of some of the contacts we did have
shows the following:
The majority of clients (29.4%) came from the
Belconnen area and from central Canberra (24.6%),
with 11.8% coming from surrounding areas of NSW.
74.5% of the clients were female and 25.5% male.
49.7% of clients were members of the general public,
19.2% were family and friends of a person diagnosed
with cancer, 15.3% were diagnosed cancer patients,
9.4% were health professionals, 3.7% were students
wanting information for their studies, 2.4% were from
workplaces and 0.2% were from the media.
The majority of clients contacted the service regarding
skin cancer (41%) followed by breast cancer (18.4%),
colon cancer (7.3%) and prostate cancer (7.2%).

Publications
The Cancer Council ACT provides information sheets
and pamphlets on sun protection and the major cancer
types as well as obtaining and distributing publications
produced by other members of The Cancer Council
Australia and other cancer organisations. Many of
these materials are distributed through oncology
wards at treatment centres and community health
organisations in Canberra.
This financial year saw the successful launch of The
Cancer Council ACT’s Information Pack. The pack
contains a copy of The Directory of Services ACT, a
booklet on emotions and cancer, one on food and
cancer and a booklet on each recipient’s specific
cancer/s.
The packs were distributed to the Canberra cancer
treatment centres to be handed out to recently or
newly diagnosed cancer patients. Also included in the
pack was a feedback sheet to be completed by the
patient. All the feedback received to date has been
very positive with the emphasis on how useful the
pack was.

E-mail and Website Services
The Cancer Helpline
The Council’s Cancer Helpline, available on
13 11 20, is the ACT’s contribution to the national
Cancer Helpline which is managed from each
state and territory.
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Clients can access the CIS via e-mail using the email
address chl@actcancer.org. In the past year 45 people
have accessed the service in this way, this is down on
the 60 contacts made last year and is most probably
due to the severe difficulties we experienced with our

e-mail and Internet reception from early December
2004 to mid May 2005, following our relocation
to Fairbairn.

• Five support groups
facilitated by trained
personnel: Kidscan;
Thursday Cancer
Support Group; Thursday
Evening Support Group;
Breast Cancer Support
Group and Pink Links;

The website provides descriptions of The Council’s
services, information on upcoming events and
programs, links to other websites with reliable cancer
information and access to The Council’s publications
such as the Annual Report, the Cancer Services
Directory and The Council Chronicle.

• The Living with Cancer
Education Program;

Walk-in Consultation Service

Helen Geltch, Supportive
Care Coordinator.

• The Wig Service;

The CIS offers a walkin consultation service, which
63 people accessed during the year.

• The Volunteer Peer Assistance program; and
• Individual information and support provided
over the phone or on The Council’s premises by
paid staff.

People seeking information on cancer can visit our
office at Fairbairn during business hours, and speak
one-to-one to a Cancer Information Consultant.

In 2004–05, 1036 people (patients and carers)
contacted the Supportive Care Service by telephone
or in person. This down 14% on the 1,209 contacts
for 2003-04 and is most probably due to a difference
in reporting from 1 July 2004. In previous years each
contact made to or from the service was reported
whereas this year we are reporting only on the number
of people who contacted the service.

SUPPORTIVE CARE SERVICE
The Cancer Council ACT’s Supportive Care Service
is dedicated to providing support for people who
have cancer, their family members, caregivers and
service providers. The current services offered
include the following:

Supportive Care Service Contacts
2004–05

2003–04

2002–03

600

Number of Contacts

500
400
300
200
100
0
Support Groups

Wig Service

Peer Assistance
Volunteer Support

Other

Service

2004–2005 Supportive Care Service Data
Service

2004–05
Contacts

2003–04
Contacts

Support Groups

500

Wig Service

299
34

Volunteer Peer Assistance
Other*
Total

2002–03
Contacts

2004–05
Percentage

2003–04
Percentage

2002–03
Percentage

482

315

48%

40%

31%

389

408

29%

32%

41%

30

34

3%

3%

3%

203

308

251

20%

25%

25%

1,036

1,209

1,008

100%

100%

100%

* Includes other support provided by the Supportive Care Service eg telephone support

SUPPORTIVE CARE SERVICE
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Based on an estimated 500,000 people in Australia
living with cancer (patients and carers) in 2001
(The Cancer Council Australia Annual Report, 2001),
approximately 7900 people in the ACT were living with
cancer this year. Thus, the Supportive Care Service
reached just over 13% of people living with cancer in
the ACT. There is no national data available with which
to compare this figure. However The Cancer Council
Victoria estimates their Cancer Support Services reach
about 16% of those affected.

Support Groups
Kidscan
Kidscan, a unique group within Australia, is a
playgroup for children under five years of age who
have cancer or an immune deficiency disease. It runs
weekly at Deakin during school terms and offers the
members the opportunity to play and learn within a
safe environment. Pre-school aged siblings are also
welcome to attend and parents find the support and
friendship provided by Kidscan valuable.
Thursday Cancer Support Group
This group meets twice monthly at Deakin and is open
to people who have any type of cancer and to their
partners/carers/family members. The guest speaker
program has continued during 2004–05 and is still
popular, with people often attending specifically to
hear a particular guest speaker.
Thursday Evening Support Group
The results of a survey of all support group members
conducted in October 2004 highlighted the need for
a general support group to be held at night. Thus the
Thursday Evening Support Group began at Fairbairn
in February 2005 on a trial basis. The group is open
to people who have any type of cancer and to their
partners/carers/family members and was initially held
every two months (meetings are to be monthly from
July 2005). To enable the needs of carers and those
with cancer to be addressed separately, the group has
two facilitators. Once again guest speakers have been
a popular focus.
Breast Cancer Support Group
This group is available to all women who have a breast
cancer diagnosis and is held once a month at Deakin.
Once again The Council has found that providing guest
speakers on a range of topics maintains members
interest in the group.
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Pink Links
This closed group of five sessions in each cycle is
for younger women with a recent diagnosis of breast
cancer and was offered again during the first half
of the year. The group explored the impact of their
diagnosis and treatment, and dealt with other issues
including stress management, communication and
conflict within relationships, the role of emotions, and
role transition.
The second half of the year saw Pink Links evolve
into an open, ongoing group that is held monthly at
Fairbairn, once again incorporating guest speakers.
There had been indications from survey results and
from discussions with health professionals and the
women themselves, that there was an increasing need
for such a group. As well as facing similar issues to
all women who have breast cancer, the women who
attend Pink Links are able to discuss experiences that
are unique to their age group.
Illness and Journey
The Illness and Journey group, for all women recently
diagnosed with breast cancer, has not been offered
this year. It was felt that the needs of this group of
women would be adequately met via the Breast Cancer
Support Group and/or Pink Links.
Carers Support Group
This group, which was offered in 2003 -04 as a
response to a recommendation of‘ The Cancer Council
ACT Survey of the Reported Supportive Care Needs
of People Affected by a Cancer Diagnosis’, attracted
minimal numbers. As a result, and after discussions
with The Cancer Council Victoria regarding issues to
be considered in offering support to carers, the group
ceased at the end of 2004. Carers can now access
support via the Thursday Cancer Support Group and
the Thursday Evening Support Group (see above), and
both of these groups have had a significant number of
carers in attendance.
All support groups are professionally facilitated and,
except for Kidscan, have regular guest speakers.
During the year guest speakers have addressed the
groups on a wide range of topics including; Radiation
Oncology, Management of Pain, Self-esteem, Music
Therapy, Chemotherapy, Nutrition, Palliative Care,
Meditation, Talking to Children about Cancer,
The Encore Program, Dragon’s Abreast etc.

The Living With Cancer Education Program
The Living with Cancer Education Program (LWCEP)
was first piloted in Australia during 1986-87 and has
been run and continually developed since that time.
The program is accredited and evaluated by
The Cancer Council Victoria, which also offers
facilitator training. The program is now also offered
in other areas of Australia.
LWCEP usually runs once a week over either eight
weeks or four weeks – the latter program being for
people who have advanced cancer. Any person with
a cancer diagnosis, their family and friends are able
to attend the LWCEP, with the main aim being to give
participants information and support to enhance the
quality of life of the person affected by cancer. Expert
speakers attend during some sessions and there are
also opportunities for small group discussions. The
program is planned to begin in October 2005.

The Wig Service
The Wig Service offers wigs to people who have lost
their hair as a result of cancer treatment. The service
hires out wigs and sells specially designed headwear
and other accessories. The Wig Service operates
from two sites - The Canberra Hospital on a drop in
basis for two hours Monday to Thursday, and The
Council’s offices at Fairbairn during office hours
by appointment. The Wig Service at The Canberra
Hospital is currently staffed by nineteen trained
volunteers on a roster basis.
In 2004–05 The Council’s Wig Service provided
299 occasions of service with the majority of
those assisted being adult women. The number is
significantly down on the 2003-04 number of 389.
This is at least in part attributable to The Council’s
adoption of uniform data recording procedures during
the 2004–05 year, which has eliminated a number of
duplication errors. The scalp-cooling machine which
TCCACT donated to TCH may also be having an effect,
(see Research Section).

The Council is indebted to these organisations,
particularly to the Snow Foundation for their ongoing
generosity. The donations will ensure that The Council
is able to continue providing an updated stock of wigs
to its clients.

Volunteer Peer Assistance Program
The Peer Assistance Program offers telephone support
to people who have been recently diagnosed with
cancer or who are carers of those who have cancer.
Trained volunteers who have either had cancer in the
past and are now well, or who have been a carer of
someone with cancer, provide the service. Clients are
carefully matched with reference to their particular
needs, cancer type, treatment, age, sex, social
situation etc.
A re-evaluation of this program took place during the
year and the decision was taken to cease face-toface contacts at least in the short term and focus on
consolidating and strengthening the telephone support
service. One recruitment drive took place during the
year, resulting in 5 new volunteers joining the program.
An audit of current volunteers and their training and
support needs is to be undertaken early in the
2005–06 year.
As with previous years, the program was not heavily
utilised, with 28 referrals being taken during the year.
Additionally, The Council had to depend on other state
Cancer Councils to assist with matching many of these
referrals. However, it continues to be a service that is
valued by those who use it.

The Snow Foundation once again made a generous
donation of $5,000 to the Wig Service to be used
to purchase new wigs during the 2004–05 financial
year. In addition to this, The Council received two
other substantial donations – the sum of $1,000 from
The Rotary Club of Canberra Woden Inc. and $600
from Soroptimist International of Canberra Inc. Both
donations were specifically for the purchase of new
wigs, which is important because of the short time
wigs remain looking new and attractive.

SUPPORTIVE CARE SERVICE
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Research Program
Reducing the incidence and impact of cancer in the ACT

The Cancer Council ACT remains committed to
promoting and supporting research into all aspects of
cancer control and in 2004–05 granted over $30,000
towards cancer research.
The Council supports cancer research efforts through
three primary means:
• By annually providing funds, received from public
donations, to support researchers in the ACT
investigating cancer and related issues;
• by participating in and promoting data for research
being undertaken by other organisations; and
• by undertaking its own research.
Each year The Cancer Council ACT provides funds,
received from public donations for independent cancer
research projects, through a research grants scheme.
Researchers in the ACT are invited to apply. These
applications are entered into the national peer review
scheme, where they are assessed by national experts
in each field, and referred back to the Board where the
most suitable projects are chosen for funding.
The Council funded two research projects in the
2004–05 financial year. A summary of these
projects follows:

Project Title: Towards a cancer prevention program for
the ACT and SENSW region. A background paper and
mapping exercise
Grant awarded: $12,000
Principal Investigator: Ms Nicole Druhan-McGinn who
has provided the following overview:
Estimates suggest between one-third to one-half of all
cancers are potentially preventable. The population of
the ACT and South East NSW region is ageing, and
the number of new cancers diagnosed in the region
is expected to increase by nearly 60% by the year
2032, if there is no change to current risk behaviours.
Primary prevention has the most potential to improve
cancer control in the ACT and South East NSW region
by saving lives and reducing future health care costs.
The project will address key areas for action outlined
by The Cancer Council Australia’s National Cancer
Prevention Policy 2004–06:

• Overweight and Obesity
• Alcohol
Within each action area the following issues will
be discussed: the link between the risk factor and
cancer, the impact of the risk factor on current and
future cancer incidence in the region (projected
to 2032), review of the evidence for and features
of effective interventions to modify risk factors, a
mapping of relevant national and local initiatives, and
finally a series of recommendations will provide a
framework for action with specific actions for
The Cancer Council ACT.
There are important synergies between cancer
prevention and the prevention of other chronic
disease most notably cardiovascular disease, stroke
and diabetes when common risk factors tobacco,
nutrition, physical activity and overweight are targeted.
Stakeholders in the cardiovascular and diabetes fields
will be identified and recommendations for strategic
approaches to common risks (without losing the
cancer element of the message) will be outlined.
Preventing cancer occurs over decades, and the
aim of the project is a long-term aim to reduce the
incidence of cancer in the Region. A long-term
commitment is therefore required, and the document
will represent a starting point, with short and medium
term outcomes identified so that progress may be
measured and efforts justified.
Draft sections of the tobacco and physical activity
action areas of the project are currently completed
and being reviewed. The project will be completed in
the 2005–06 financial year.

Project Title: Coping Styles and Severity of Toxicity
from Adjuvant Chemotherapy for Early Breast Cancer
Grant awarded: $8,000 (total grant of $72,000
over the past 3 years)
Principal Investigators: Associate Professor Robin
Stuart-Harris, The Australian National University
Medical School and The Canberra Hospital, Professor
Don Byrne, School of Psychology, The Australian
National University.
The following mid-project report has been provided by
Associate Professor Robin Stuart-Harris.

• Tobacco
• Continued liaison and negotiation with medical
oncologists in the ACT and with four cooperating
hospitals (The Canberra Hospital, Calvary Hospital,
John James Hospital and National Capital Private
Hospital) to ensure referral, as close as possible,

• UV Radiation
• Physical Activity
• Nutrition and Diet
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of a continuous sample of patients fitting the
selection criteria;
• Adjustment of referral and interview procedures to
suit each participating hospital;
• Continuation of initial interviews with close to
70% of the anticipated sample of patients with
breast cancer (referral rates currently indicate that
the initial sample size estimate will be surpassed);
• Commencement of follow-up interviews as
patients reach appropriate stages in their
chemotherapy cycles;
• Preparation of a data file to allow full integration
of psychosocial data collected at interview with
medical data obtained from case notes.
The study is making significant progress and we
anticipate that all data for the breast cancer patients
will be collected within the projected time frame.
However, the enrolment of patients with colorectal
cancer, as a comparison group, has been slow
because of low referral rates. Therefore, we are
revisiting our efforts to enrol patients with colorectal
cancer through additional contact with oncologists
and other clinical service providers. If this is not
sufficiently successful we will consider the possibility
of recruiting patients from beyond the ACT region to
ensure an adequate sample size.
We hope by the end of 2005 to have data in an
appropriate form to begin the process of reporting
both in the form of journal articles and conference
presentations.

Last year The Council purchased scalp cooling
equipment for the Medical Oncology Ward at
The Canberra Hospital in 2003–04, as reported
in last year’s annual report.
Project title: Scalp Cooling Project for Prevention of
Chemotherapy Induced Alopecia.
Grant awarded: $11,250
Principal Investigator: Dr Desmond Yip, Staff
Specialist in Medical Oncology, The Canberra
Hospital, Senior Lecturer, Canberra Clinical School,
University of Sydney, ANU Medical School,
Australian National University.
The following report has been provided by
Dr Desmond Yip.
Alopecia or hair loss is singled out as the most
distressing side effect of cancer chemotherapy by
patients. It ranks above that of nausea induced by
chemotherapy and can cause changes to self-concept
and perception of body image. For some it represents
the only visible sign of cancer and its treatment to

the outside world. Not all chemotherapy agents cause
alopecia. Alopecia is not always complete and may just
be in the form of hair thinning. The hair almost always
returns after completion of the treatment, sometimes of
a different texture or wavy. Scarves, hats, turbans and
wigs are methods of disguising the hair loss.
Scalp cooling has been recognised as a method for
prevention of chemotherapy induced alopecia. The
rationale for scalp cooling is that it reduces the blood
flow to the scalp thereby reducing the exposure of
the hair follicle to the chemotherapy drugs during
administration. Early systems used crushed ice in bags
placed on the scalp however more efficient proprietary
systems are now available. Reports of research using
these systems in the medical literature have indicated
that scalp cooling is effective in preventing hair loss
but not in all patients. Many cancer units in Europe
offer scalp cooling routinely to their patients, but the
availability in Australia previously has been restricted
to two private cancer centres interstate. The main
barrier to being able to offer scalp cooling has been
the considerable capital cost of the specialised
equipment required.
In 2004 The Cancer Council ACT awarded a grant to
the Medical Oncology Unit at The Canberra Hospital
(TCH) to procure a scalp cooling system. With the
help of additional funds from the TCH Cancer Nurses
Education Fund the Penguin Cold Cap system
http://www.msc-worldwide.com/cold_caps.html was
implemented in July 2004. The system involves the use
of cryogel caps stored in a dedicated biomedical freezer.
These are applied before, during and after chemotherapy
administration. Timers are used to keep track of when
the caps need to be changed to maintain cooling during
chemotherapy. The use of the caps does add to the
total time of the chemotherapy treatment in the unit
and is the reason some patients decline its use. Other
patients are not able to tolerate the coldness of the
caps. A nursing protocol has been developed as well as
an information sheet. Two of the oncology nurses have
travelled to one of the Australian units using the system
to observe its use. Prospective registration of patients
having scalp cooling along with data collection using
a proforma is being carried out to determine efficacy,
patient satisfaction and side effects as part of a quality
assurance project. So far the majority of the individuals
undergoing scalp cooling have a diagnosis of breast
cancer. There have been a number of patients who
have completed their course of chemotherapy without
losing their hair following treatments that normally cause
complete alopecia. The full details and results of this
project will be published in the future.
The Medical Oncology Unit is most grateful to
The Cancer Council ACT for their support of this
project to allow our patients access to this supportive
care technology.

RESEARCH PROGRAM
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Fundraising and Business Development Program

Raising money through fundraising events has been a
difficult task over the past few years and this financial
year has been no exception. Although last year,
2003–04, was the year in which we raised the most
funds ever, a total of $771, 991, it was not our best
year for our biggest fundraiser, Daffodil Day, which
in 2002–03 raised $214,542; nor for Relay for
Life which raised its top amount of $178,089 so far,
in 2001–02.
The tsunami that took place on 26th December
2004 devastated thousands of people’s lives but the
heartfelt reaction by Australians to this natural disaster
was overwhelming. Due to the generous donations of
many Australians to this disaster The Cancer Council
ACT and other charities have felt the financial effect in
reduced donations.
The beginning of the calendar year did see donations
and event income decline compared to the same
period the previous year. After the tsunami occurred
The Cancer Council NSW conducted research to
identify what the fundraising trends would be and what
effect this would have on raising money. The research
indicated that funds raised through events and
donations would decline throughout the coming year.
The Fundraising and Business Development Unit is
continually looking at new ways to increase funds for
the organisation. During October, The Cancer Council
ACT in association with The Cancer Council’s SA, WA
and NSW participated in the trial of a new potential
national event called Girls’ Night In. This event is
based on the format of Australia’s Biggest Morning Tea
and proved to be quite successful in the ACT. Girls’
Night In has now become a national event and will
increase funds for the organisation.
The donor development side of fundraising is
continuing to go from strength to strength and we
are building up a very strong database of financial
supporters. It is our goal to continue to grow this side
of the business and to turn our annual donors into
monthly donors and bequest prospects.

Daffodil Day
Daffodil Day, the flagship event of The Cancer Council,
was launched at Federation Mall on the Sunday
prior to the event with the ‘Field of Hope’. The
‘Field of Hope’ is a very moving ceremony that
remembers loved ones lost to cancer and honours
those family members and friends who are currently
undergoing treatment.
People who have lost a loved one to cancer, and
regular supporters of The Council, are invited to
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Dianne Moir, Fundraising
and Business Development
Coordinator.

Sarah Walsh, Event Coordinator.

participate in the ‘Field of Hope’. Letters are sent
asking for donations and encouraging people to write a
special message on the enclosed paper daffodil. Once
returned, the paper daffodils are planted at Federation
Mall and spell the word HOPE. The ‘Field of Hope’
allows a person the chance to remember their loved
ones in a quiet, peaceful setting. A short ceremony
is held and this marks the official launch of Daffodil
Day. The ‘Field of Hope’ is on display for the entire
week of Daffodil Day.
Twenty shopping centre stalls were held throughout
Canberra and raised $43,699.00. This figure is
$14,254.05 less than the amount raised in the
previous year and may be attributable to the poor
locations we were given in some of the major shopping
centres for our casual leases.
A total of $136,154 was raised through the sale of
Daffodil Day merchandise and The Cancer Council
ACT once again raised the highest amount per head
of population compared to the other States and
Territories.

Pink Ribbon Day
A Pink Ribbon Day breakfast was held on Friday,
22nd October to launch Pink Ribbon Day in the ACT.
Approximately 70 people attended the breakfast
and listened to Professor Don Iverson speak on the
importance of exercise after breast cancer surgery.
Professor Iverson’s speech was well received and
The Council heard many positive comments about the
breakfast and the quality of the guest speaker.
Income from Pink Ribbon Day continues to grow
and this year the event raised $37,045, which is an
increase of $7,477 on the previous year. Shopping
centre stalls in eight locations raised $10,116.05.
This is an increase of $2,452.95 from the previous
year. Local businesses and Government departments
were once again very supportive of Pink Ribbon
Day with 109 organisations selling merchandise in
their workplaces.

Girls Night In
Girls Night In is a new event for The Council run for
the first time this year. The event was also trialled
this year by The Cancer Councils in NSW, Western
Australia, and South Australia. The event is based on
the successful formula of Australia’s Biggest Morning
Tea where participants are encouraged to register
to host a Girls’ Night In at home. Each participant
receives a host kit containing ideas on how to have
a Girls’ Night In at home. Guests are encouraged to
donate what they would normally spend on a night out
to The Cancer Council.
The Council had hoped to register 20 participants and
to raise $2,000 from the event in its first year. We
were very pleased to have had 30 participants register,
and raised $5,853. The event is now going national
in 2005 and will be held throughout the month of
October in association with Pink Ribbon Day.

Relay For Life
Now in its 6th year Relay For Life was held at the AIS
Athletics Track on the 8th & 9th April. The number
of teams participating in the event declined this year
and dropped from 94 teams in 2004 to only 62
teams in 2005. It is possible that the drop in teams
was caused by the Canberra marathon being held the
same weekend, the number of defence personnel who
have been shipped abroad to perform service work
and/or the recent tsunami disaster which has claimed
so much of the community’s energy/resources. The
number of school teams declined due to a problem
with the Catholic Education Office and the Relay For
Life waiver form.
Although the number of teams was down on
the previous year Relay For Life has still raised
$143,183.51, which is only $9,845.90 less than the

previous year. While we do hope that Relay For Life
will become our biggest fundraising event as it has this
year, we want that to occur in a situation where every
event’s income continues to increase each year. In
other words where Relay For Life exceeds the biggest
Council fundraiser ever which was Daffodil Day in
2002–03 at $214,542.
Steps were taken this year to help the participants
raise their funds and a new Relay For Life website
was developed which allowed team participants to
email family and friends requesting that they donate
to their team fundraising by donating online. This
new fundraising tool worked extremely well and was
well received by the participants. New Relay For
Life handbooks were also developed which provided
information about the work of The Cancer Council ACT
and gave tips on raising money and what to expect at
the event.
Major goals for Relay For Life in the future include
increasing and/or at least maintaining the event
income so it continues to be the highest earning
fundraising event held by the Council, encouraging
team captain input into the organisation of the
event and growing the number of teams participating
in the event.

Australia’s Biggest Morning Tea
Luckily, after the disappointment of the two major
fundraisers run early in the financial year the income
from Australia’s Biggest Morning Tea continued
its pattern of exceeding the preceding years. At
30 June 2005 the event, held in May 2005, had
raised $122,010. As income from ABMT will continue
to be received into July 2005 this amount should rise
further. With over 725 morning teas held throughout
the territory, it was no surprise that over 17,300
people somewhere in the ACT attended a morning tea.

FUNDRAISING AND BUSINESS DEVELOPMENT PROGRAM
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were also offered the opportunity to look around the
new office, enjoy a sausage sizzle, kindly cooked by
the Jerrabomberra Rotary Club, and could also listen to
the wonderful music of the Brave and Crazy Band who
had donated their time for the day.
Sales through the online shopping site and the mail
order catalogue increased this year and the number
of orders increased to 89 compared to 47 last year.
We have continued to sell merchandise to government
departments and have a strong commitment to
maintaining these relationships in the future. The
Council will participate in producing the national
catalogue next financial year and will continue to
develop a strong working relationship with The Cancer
Council NSW retail outlets.

Australia’s Biggest Morning Tea was launched in
the ACT by Her Excellency Mrs Marlena Jeffery and
attended by those who had hosted the morning teas
which had raised the most money. As a thank you for
their hard work, guests were presented with limited
edition morning tea mugs and had their photograph
taken with Mrs Jeffery.

Additional Fundraising Events

DONOR DEVELOPMENT AND
BEQUEST PROGRAM
Since the implementation of the donor development
program in May 2002 the response rate to the appeal
campaigns has surpassed our expectations. As the
table below shows, there has been a steady increase in
responses to the appeal and donation rate.
May Appeal

Response % Total Donations

• The British High Commission Spring Ball
• Christmas card sales
• The Doug Russell Memorial Golf Day

May 2002

6.5%

$2,703.00

$57.50

May 2003

16.3%

$7,875.00

$83.00

May 2004

17.8%

$16,500.00

$61.32

• Me No Hair (sponsored individuals in the
community shave their head)

May 2005

17%

$22,000.00

$105.78

• Terry Fox Fun Run

Feb 2005

The Cancer Council ACT Shop

Christmas Appeal

With the move to our new premises in Fairbairn we
were able to allocate a large space for the retail
shop. The shop has been designed to be bright and
welcoming and items such as sunscreen, hats and
sunglasses are easy to locate.

October 2002

10%

$3,918.00

$56.78

Aug/October 2003

14%

$9,608.00

$105.75

October 2004

11%

$6,500.00

$61.32

The Cancer Council ACT has joined other Cancer
Councils in producing a national retail catalogue
for the Shop. The catalogue promoted a Christmas
Shopping Day and also included a map to our new
location. The catalogue was distributed throughout
Canberra as an insert in The Chronicle, a free
newspaper that is delivered to homes once a week.
The shop was open for the Christmas Shopping Day on
the first Saturday after moving into the new building.
People were asked to bring the catalogue with them
to receive a 10% discount. The shop was only open
between 10am and 2pm and during that time over
$10,000 of SunSmart merchandise was sold.
The shop was well received by the public and they
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Candles at Candlelight Ceremony at Relay For Life
6.3%

$3,555.00

$67.32

Two appeal letters are sent annually one in May and
the second, our Christmas Appeal, in October. The
May 2005 appeal package included a paper daffodil,
giving supporters the opportunity to contribute to the
‘Field of Hope’ to launch Daffodil Day.
The Christmas appeal package includes an invitation
for supporters to participate in the ‘Candlelighting
Ceremony’ at Relay for Life. It is an opportunity to
provide hope in the fight against cancer by making a
donation when purchasing a candle and to honour a
loved one who has struggled with cancer.
Many supporters have requested that they receive
both appeal letters annually in order to get an
opportunity to participate in the ‘Field of Hope’ and
the ‘Candlelighting Ceremony’.

Bequests

2004–2005 Sponsors

The Cancer Council ACT is most grateful to have
received a bequest this year from the estate of the
late Miss Anu Mitra.

Helping Hand Home Loans

The bequest booklet, which outlines the work of The
Council and explains the importance of leaving a will,
is available to our members and all interested persons.
The booklet also contains the suggested wording to
use when leaving a bequest to The Cancer Council
ACT. Copies are available from The Council office.
The Council has worked closely with the ACT funeral
houses this year in accepting donations, at the request
of families, at funerals. In recent years we have
provided the ACT funeral houses with ‘in memoriam’
envelopes. We are most grateful for the support
received from the funeral directors and we thank them
for personally delivering ‘in memoriam’ donations to
our office.
The Council aims to continue to build the donor
development and bequest program throughout the
2005–06 financial year.

Daffodil Day 2004
1626
Amcal
ANZ Bank
Australian Air Express
BeMe
Capitol Chilled Foods
Coles
Cross Roads
First National Real Estate
HIC/Medicare
Katies
Medibank Private
Millers
Quix
Rockmans
Silhouette
The Canberra Times
Westpac Bank
Pink Ribbon Day 2004

Fundraising Income 2004–05
13%

Australia’s Biggest
Morning Tea

17%

Daffodil Day

British High Commission Ball 2004

Pink Ribbon Day

ACT Rugby Union Ltd – Brumbies
Andrea Close
Australian Air Express
BBC Worldwide
Beaver Gallery
Beth Monahan
Brave and Crazy Band
Copy Qik
Corus Hotel Sydney
Classic Car Club
Crisp Galleries
Diageo Australia
Ginger Catering
Hopscotch
Hotel Inter-Continental Sydney
Hyatt Hotel Canberra
Isla Patterson
Jacqui King
Malleson Stephen Jaques
Marriott Hotel Sydney
Robyn Power
Rolls-Royce Australia Ltd
Shangri-La Hotel, Sydney
Shell Australia
Slaven Mazda
Telstra
The Bridge Climb
Waterford Wedgwood Australia Ltd

Relay for Life

16%

Terry Fox Fun Run
Me No Hair
Donations
19%

Australian Air Express
Capitol Chilled Foods

Other

3%
3%
19%
20%

1998 Giving Trends in Australia: O’Keefe and Partners
suggests that for an organisation of The Cancer
Council’s size, that is, events fundraising revenue
between $½ million to $2 million, a reasonable
benchmark for costs of events fundraising is between
30–70%. The Cancer Council ACT’s cost for event
fundraising for the year is 37% of revenue. Last year
it would have been 31% except for a change by the
auditor in the way Daffodil Day merchandise was
recorded in the accounts.

DONOR DEVELOPMENT AND BEQUEST PROGRAM
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Rolfe Mazda Doug Russell
Memorial Golf Day 2004
1053 2CA Canberra
Canberra Symphony Orchestra
Carlo’s at Watson
Deep Dish Restaurant
Ecowise Services
Friends of the National Museum
of Australia
Gloria Jean’s Coffee Belconnen
Hoyts Cinemas
National Gallery of Australia
Oz Design Furniture
Poachers Pantry
Pots on the Square
Qantas
Royal Canberra Golf Club
Slaven Motors/ Slaven Mazda
Southcorp Wines
Tabletop Belconnen
The Cancer Council ACT Shop
The Novotel Hotel Canberra
The Royal Canberra Show
The Vast Interior
Relay for Life 2005
ADFA Duntroon
Antigo Café & Bar
Audio Solutions
Australian Reptile Centre
Australian Sports Commission
Bakers Delight Dickson
Brave and Crazy Band
Brumbies ACT Rugby Union
Calypso Pantastic
Canberra Centre
Canberra Coffee Company
Canberra Indoor Rockclimbing
Canberra Raiders
Canberra Southern Cross
Club Woden
Capitol Chilled Foods
CBR Youth College
City of Queanbeyan Pipe Band
Coffee Coffee Here
Daramalan College Band
Delightful Baskets
Electric Shadows Bookshop
Fyshwick Fresh Food Markets
Grand Prix Karting
Greater Union Cinema
Hall Village Brass Band
Hoyts Cinema Tuggeranong
Hyatt Hotel Canberra
Intencity
It’s Party Time
King O’Malley’s Irish Pub

PAGE 30

THE CANCER COUNCIL ACT

La Scala Restaurant
McDonalds – Lake, Belconnen
Mike’s Meats Superstores
Monaro Colonial Dancers
National Dinosaur Museum
National Zoo and Aquarium
Next of Kin
Novotel Hotel Canberra
Nudie Juice
Pace Farm Pty Ltd
Peter Alexander
Poetry in Flowers
Putt Putt Golf Course, Dickson
Reverend David Moyes
Questacon
Radio Rentals
Roses Only
Rotary Club of Belconnen
Rotary Club of Ginninderra
Sing Australia Choir
Southern Cross Ten
Southern Cross Pitch n’ Putt
St John Ambulance
SuperKarts
The Outdoor Oven
The Scissorman
The Waldorf Hotel
Tip Top Bakeries
Tuggeranong Valley Senior Band
Tu Tu Tango Café
Zone 3 Laser Games
Australia’s Biggest Morning Tea
2005
Australian Air Express
Capitol Chilled Foods
Terry Fox Fun Run 2005
ActewAGL
Allied Pickfords
Bertram Ellis
Bombardier Transportation
Camp
Campbells Cash & Carry
Canberra Trophy Centre
Can-Weld Contracting Pty Ltd
City News
Coates Prestige
Corporate Express
Delta Building Automations
De Neefe Signs
Executive Rentals
Fyshwick Fresh Food Markets
Just-Rite Home Improvements
Kell & Rigby Builders
Kent Moving & Storage
King Air Pty Ltd
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Manassen Foods
Manteena Pty Ltd
Morgans Carpet Cleaning
National Foods
Sing Australia Choirs
Sita Environmental Solutions
St John Ambulance
Stewart Barlen Hire
The Canberra Times
The Pancake Parlour Restaurant
The Runners Shop
Urban Contractors Pty Ltd
Water & Gas Doctor
Others
Baum Family
Kowalski Consulting
Minter Ellison
Thank you to our sponsors,
participants, supporters and
volunteers who have so generously
supported our fundraising events
and appeals throughout 2004–05.
We would not be able to achieve
the results we have without your
continued support.

Other Activities During 2004–05

Following is a list of some of the other activities
The Cancer Council ACT staff and Board were involved
in during 2004–05.

Membership of ACT Committees/Groups
ACT and SE NSW Breast Cancer Treatment Group
ACT Cancer Advisory Group
ACT Cervical Advisory Committee
ACT Cervical Cytology Register Management Committee
ACT Community Care Cervical and BreastScreen
Program Community Reference Group
ACT Schools Canteen Coalition
ACT Tobacco Taskforce
Australian Health Promotion Association – ACT Branch
BreastScreen Mammography Advisory Committee
CADAACT – Coalition of Drug and Alcohol Agencies in
the ACT
Drug Action Week – ACT Working Group
Executive Committee, Fundraising Institute of Australia
– Chapter 6
Gastrointestinal Tract Tumour Group
Healthlink Editorial Committee
Oncology Services Network
Smokefree Consultative Group
The Canberra Hospital Consumer Participation
Reference Group

Membership of The Cancer Council Australia
Committees/Groups
Australian and Torres Strait Islanders’ Cancer Issues
Sub-Committee
Bowel Cancer Sub-Committee
Business Development Committee
Cancer Connect Network
Cancer Information Service Network
Cancer Information Services Directors Group
Chief Executive Officers’ Forum
Chief Financial Managers’ Meeting
Governance Committee (President)
Media Managers’ Network
Merchandise Managers’ Committee
National Events Committee
National Schools’ Working Group
National Skin Cancer Steering Committee
Nutrition and Physical Activity Committee
Supportive Care Committee
Relay For Life Coordinators’ Committee
Tobacco Issues Sub-Committee

Glen Bortolin, Manager of
Corporate Services

James Priest, Shop Manager/
Office Coordinator

Membership of other National Committees/Groups
Australian Network on Young People and Tobacco
Australian Prostate Cancer Collaboration Education
Committee
COSA Conference 2004 Organising Committee
Quit Coordinators’ Group

Attendance at Conferences
Australian Health Promotion Conference, Canberra
Cancer Control in Indigenous Communities:
The Cancer Council Australia Forum
Clinical Oncological Society of Australia Conference,
Canberra
Society for Research on Nicotine and Tobacco
Conference, Prague (Coalition of Drug and Alcohol
Agencies ACT [CADAACT] provided dedicated
funding)
UICC (International Union against Cancer) World
Conference For Cancer Organisations, Dublin

Financial Membership of Other Organisations
Asian and Pacific Federation of Organisations for
Cancer Research and Control
AUSAE – Australian Society of Association Executives
Carers ACT
Chartered Secretaries Australia
COSA – Clinical Oncological Society of Australia
International Non-Governmental Coalition Against Cancer
International Union for Health Promotion and Education
Public Health Association of Australia
SHOUT
The Cancer Council Australia
UICC – International Union against Cancer
Volunteering ACT

OTHER ACTIVITIES DURING 2004–05
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VOLUNTEER

CASUAL

WIG
SERVICE

Trained
Volunteers

PEER
ASSISTANCE
VOLUNTEERS
Trained
Volunteers

Irene Durant

Helen Geltch

THURSDAY
CANCER
SUPPORT
GROUP
FACILITATOR
Alison Meretini

CANCER
INFORMATION
CONSULTANT

MANAGER OF CORPORATE
SERVICES
Glen Bortolin

SHOP MANAGER AND
OFFICE COORDINATOR
James Priest

EXECUTIVE OFFICER
Joan Bartlett

SUPPORTIVE
CARE
COORDINATOR

CONTRACT

BREAST
CANCER & CARER
SUPPORT
GROUP
FACILITATOR
Yvonne Fisher

COMMUNITY
EDUCATOR:
GENERAL CANCER
PREVENTION
Ross Buchanan

FULL TIME

Vikki Fox

KIDSCAN
COORDINATOR

Patricia Jones

COMMUNITY
EDUCATOR:
QUIT SMOKING

MANAGER
CLIENT SERVICES
John Thorn

AUDIT
COMMITTEE

BOARD OF DIRECTORS

Organisational Chart

Sarah Walsh

EVENT
COORDINATOR

MANAGER
FUNDRAISING AND
BUSINESS DEVELOPMENT
Vacant as at June 2005

RESEARCH GRANT
COMMITTEE

Trained
Volunteers

SPECIAL
EVENTS
VOLUNTEERS

FUNDRAISING
& BUSINESS
DEVELOPMENT
COORDINATOR
(temporary position)
Dianne Moir

Staff and Volunteers

2004–05 Staff
Executive Officer
Joan Bartlett
Client Services

Fundraising and Business Development
Manager, Fundraising and Business Development
Nicole Campbell (to 22/4/05)
Fundraising and Business Development Coordinator
Dianne Moir (temporary position from 16/6/05)

Manager, Client Services
John Thorn

Fundraising Assistant
Danielle Finney (to 15/4/05: position made redundant)

Community Educator: Quit Smoking
Patricia Jones

Event Coordinator
Sarah Walsh (from 9/4/05)

Quit Course Facilitator:
Carole Kiernan*

Donor Liaison Officer
Dianne Moir (to 15/6/05)

Community Educator: General Cancer
Prevention and Early Detection
Ross Buchanan
Community Educator: Youth and Cancer
Skye Wisbey (to 1/4/05)
Cancer Information Consultant
Kate Aigner
(maternity leave from 17/12/04)
Irene Durant (from 11/1/05)
Supportive Care Coordinator
Helen Geltch (from 19/7/05)
Thursday Cancer Support Group Facilitator
Alison Meritini*

Finance and Administration
Accounts and Personnel Officer
Caroline Shears-Jones (to 13/5/05)
Manager of Corporate Services
Glen Bortolin (from 23/6/05)
Office Coordinator
Ivana Ippoliti (to 13/5/05)
Shop Manager/Office Coordinator
James Priest (from 1/6/05)
* Contract or Casual staff

Breast Cancer Support Group Facilitator
Yvonne Fischer*
Liz Done*
Thursday Night Support Group Facilitators
Alison Meritini*
Liz Done*
Kidscan Coordinator
Vikki Fox*
Special Project Contractors
‘ACT Youth Smoking Prevention Project’
Nicole Druhan-McGinn*

STAFF AND VOLUNTEERS
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2004–05 Volunteers
Wig Service
Irene Bentley
Jackie Burnett
Joan Crook
Nola Daley
Maria Falez
Susan Golem
Julia Holden
Eileen Jones
Joanne Jones
Gerda Mark
Robyn McAllister
Mary McDermott
June McDonald
Anne McKernan
Perrie Morris
Zen Nihill
Linley Slinn
Bridget Smits
Mary Sutherland
Ruth Winstanley
Peer Assistance
Diane Carter
Alison Cox
Lenore Cupitt
Margaret Dando
Emilia Delia-Torre
Josie Dichiera
Veronica Downhy
Tess Falconer
Suna Fehringer
Christine Fraser
Judy Harders
Peter Judd
Robert Kefford
Elizabeth Kennedy
Valerie Lee
Ellen Mathews
Robyn McAllister
June McDonald
Judy McGlynn
Pamela Nickerton
Margaret Pentony
Heather Phillips
Jan Purchas
John Ryan
Anna Wellings-Booth
Quit Pack Preparation
Lucy Cripps
Daffodil Day 2004
Greta Adams
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Michael Adams
Wendy Aikman
Mary Aloisi
Helen Armstrong
Gaith Bader
Reza Bahramrad
Susan Bailey
Kirralee Baker-Newham
Helen Baseden
Kerrie Basman
Kay Beaver
Gwen Bendun
Catherine Brandt
Rhonda Bray
Barbara Brown
Sujinder Budhi
Capital First National
Jane Cartledge
Brian Carton
Jing-Ting Chan
Margaret Chaytow
James Chipperfield
Anna Chuda
Alistair Coe
Marie Collins
Win Collins
Lynne Combe
Ginny Condon
Terese Cottier
Barbara Court
Kate Couvee
Allison Cox
Fiona Crain
Lucy Cripps
Michael Deasey
Ruby Dutta
Ivana Faden
Sarah Ferguson
Jessica Fields
Barbara Finn
Jane Fleming
Joy Fowler
Cathy-Ann Fraser
Christine Fraser
Chris Freemantle
Bree Frost
Helen Fyfe
Leila Galang
Robyn Gardner
Amy Garlick
John Garner
Robyn Garner
Sarah Gault
Yvonne Gentry
Shirley George
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Beth Gibbs
Linda Giles
Deanne Glanville
Penny Gosling
Ursula Gould
Jill Graham
Karen Graham
Tim Graham
Patricia Gray
Paul Gray
Anne Griffin
Fiona Guy
Linda Hamilton
Tim Hardy
Judith Harris
Jim Harvey
Julie Harvey
Erin Haskins
Leslie Henshaw
Erin Hill
Coby Hocking
Peta Hoff
Grace Holroyd
Karin Huckstepp
Rosemary Huff-Johnston
Rhonda Jamieson
Natalie Jansen
John Jeffery
Bruce Johnson
Karen Jung
Eloise Kelley
Jana Kelly
Therese Kelly
Eleanor Kennealy
Kim King
Clare Knox
Julie Koesmarno
Laura Kurth
Olive Lambie
Gary Lane
John Langdon
Selina Langford
Daryl Lawrence
Trenton Lee
Jennifer Lewis
Vin Liston
Jan Livingstone
Marguerida Lyras
Kylie Maguire
James Malone
Gai Marshall
Dagmar Martin
Alexandra Martyniak
Alice Mason
Angie Mason

Ellen Matthews
Julie Matthews
Celia McKew
Iris McMenamin
Angelina McRae
Gemma Meers
Robyn Middleton
Marline Milner
Doreen Mitchell
Elizabeth Mitchell
Suzanne Mitchell
Pauline Moat
Helen Mobbs
Maria Moleirinho
Carolyn Monson
Pat Mooney
Hazel Morris
Ron Morris
Pearl Moyseyenko
Wendy Napier Aikman
Annie Ngo
Anna Nichol
Mary Nicholls
Adam Nott
Vicky Oats
Denise Page
Jan Pan
Rosemary Parker
Jill Parliament
Diane Parsonson
Alan Payne
Kalle Peljo
Catherine Pitt
Helen Pitt
Barbara Podger
Val Pritchard
Lesley Purdy
Misty Purdy
Bill Quinn
Divya Ramkumar
Molly Rand
Hedda Ranson-Elliot
Mary Rees
Kate Reid
Mary Reynolds
Tracey Robertson
Debbie Robinson
Kirsten Rodgers
Carole Rowe
Janice Rudd
Natalie Rule
Lindy Scanlan
Fleur Scheele
Mark Scheele
Jan Schwinghamer

Helen Shawe
Joan Sheppard
Betty Shields
Alison Sides
Elizabeth Smith
Heather Smith
Jenny Smith
Kathy Smith
Franca Solari
Pam Stagg
Denise Stephens
Aonghus Stevens
Cate Stevens
Ken Stone
Margaret Stone
Jim Stubbs
Sydna Stubbs
Doug Taupin
Barbara Taylor
Bock Thong
Robert Thornton
Fred Thorpe
Iris Thorpe
Glenda Tow
Elaine Ung
Lorna Vaessen
Sally Vine
Mary Wahren
Susan Walker
Carol Ward
Roy Weatherburn
Paulina Welbourne
Janet Wendorf
Jenny White
Nancy Williams
Cathie Willis
Julie Wilson
Janelle Withers
Phillip Woodward
Angela Yorston
Pink Ribbon Day 2004
Mary Aloisi
Gaith Bader
Jane Cartledge
Brian Carton
Jing-Ting Chan
Margaret Chaytow
Win Collins
Kate Couvee
Sarah Ferguson
Christine Fraser
Anne Griffin
Linda Hamilton
Leslie Henshaw

Peta Hoff
Grace Holroyd
Robin Houston
Natalie Jansen
Bruce Johnson
Eloise Kelley
Jana Kelly
Eleanor Kennealy
Kim King
Gill Kingston
Clare Knox
Daryl Lawrence
Jan Livingstone
Marguerida Lyras
Ellen Matthews
Julie Matthews
Joyce McGuire
Iris McMenamin
Doreen Mitchell
Suzanne Mitchell
Pauline Moat
Maria Moleirinho
Pat Mooney
Denise Page
Rosemary Parker
Valerie Pritchard
Bill Quinn
Divya Ramkumar
Mary Rees
Molly Rand
Janice Rudd
Betty Shields
Heather Smith
Denise Stevens
Margaret Stone
Jim Stubbs
Sydna Stubbs
Fred Thorpe
Iris Thorpe
Lorna Vaessen
Amy Vickers
Carol Ward
Nancy Williams
Cathie Willis
Todd Wisley
Angela Yorston

Patricia Gray
Mrs Hackett
Ces Hill
Eleanor Kenneally
Margaret Langford
Jennifer Lewis
Julie Matthews
Judy McKee
Marline Milner
Pauline Moat
Rebecca Neeson
Laureen Pritchard
Molly Rand
Lynne Sandland
Margaret Stone
Margaret Vidler
Angela Yorston

Relay For Life 2005
Robert Campbell
Fiona Crain
Mark Crawford
Jess Fields
Christine Fraser
Elaine Graham
Tim Hardy
Robin Houston
Stephen Hughes
Chris Kelaart
Eloise Kelley
Julie Koesmarno
Joyce McGuire
Bill Quinn
Mary Reynolds
Carol Ward

Volunteers for
the Christmas Card
Shop 2004
Helen Baseden
Elizabeth Broomfield
Jane Cartledge
Ginny Condon
Beryl Cuthbertson

STAFF AND VOLUNTEERS
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Members of the Board of Directors who served
the Cancer Council ACT during 2004–05

Dr Kevin White
President
Ms Christine Brill
Vice President
Mr David Sly (from 25/10/04)
Treasurer
Ms Mary Martin
Secretary
Ms Sue Bacon
Dr Carolyn Cho
Mr Michael Deasey
Ms Gillian Mitchell
Dr Doug Taupin
Mr Brett Yeats (until 7/2/05)
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Christine Brill, Vice President

Mary Martin, Secretary

Sue Bacon, Board Member

Michael Deasey, Board Member

Gillian Mitchell, Board Member

Doug Taupin, Board Member
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Ottawa Charter
Committee Membership as at 30 June 2005
Audit Committee
Ms Christine Brill (Chairperson)
All current Board Members of
The Cancer Council ACT
Ms Joan Bartlett
Building Committee
Ms Joan Bartlett
Mr Michael Deasey
Dr Kevin White
Research Grant Committee
Dr Kevin White (Chairperson)
Ms Irene Durant
Ms Joan Bartlett
Ms Christine Brill
Ms Mary Martin
Honorary Life Members
Mrs R. Grantham
Dr Ronald Mendelsohn
(until his death on 10 April 2005)
Mrs Heather Wain
Professor Malcolm Whyte
Professor John Williams
Patron of The Cancer Council ACT
Her Excellency Mrs Marlena Jeffery

Governance Function: Objectives for
2005–06
• Review/develop governance policies
as necessary

1st International Conference on Health Promotion
(Ottawa, Canada, November 1986)
The first International Conference on Health
Promotion, meeting in Ottawa this 21st day of
November 1986, hereby presents this CHARTER for
action to achieve Health for All by the year 2000 and
beyond. This conference was primarily a response
to growing expectations for a new public health
movement around the world. Discussions focused on
the needs in industrialized countries, but took into
account similar concerns in all other regions. It built
on the progress made through the Declaration on
Primary Health Care at Alma-Ata, the World Health
Organization’s Targets for Health for All document,
and the recent debate at the World Health Assembly
on intersectoral action for health.

Health Promotion
Health promotion is the process of enabling people
to increase control over, and to improve, their health.
To reach a state of complete physical, mental and
social well-being, an individual or group must be able
to identify and to realize aspirations, to satisfy needs,
and to change or cope with the environment. Health
is, therefore, seen as a resource for everyday life, not
the objective of living. Health is a positive concept
emphasizing social and personal resources, as well as
physical capacities. Therefore, health promotion is not
just the responsibility of the health sector, but goes
beyond healthy life-styles to well-being.
Prerequisites for Health
The fundamental conditions and resources for
health are:
• peace,
• shelter,
• education,
• food,
• income,
• a stable eco-system,
• sustainable resources,
• social justice, and
• equity.
Improvement in health requires a secure foundation
in these basic prerequisites.
Advocate
Good health is a major resource for social, economic
and personal development and an important
dimension of quality of life. Political, economic, social,

OTTAWA CHARTER
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cultural, environmental, behavioural and biological
factors can all favour health or be harmful to it. Health
promotion action aims at making these conditions
favourable through advocacy for health.
Enable
Health promotion focuses on achieving equity in
health. Health promotion action aims at reducing
differences in current health status and ensuring equal
opportunities and resources to enable all people to
achieve their fullest health potential. This includes a
secure foundation in a supportive environment, access
to information, life skills and opportunities for making
healthy choices. People cannot achieve their fullest
health potential unless they are able to take control of
those things which determine their health. This must
apply equally to women and men.
Mediate
The prerequisites and prospects for health cannot be
ensured by the health sector alone. More importantly,
health promotion demands coordinated action by
all concerned: by governments, by health and other
social and economic sectors, by nongovernmental
and voluntary organization, by local authorities, by
industry and by the media. People in all walks of life
are involved as individuals, families and communities.
Professional and social groups and health personnel
have a major responsibility to mediate between
differing interests in society for the pursuit of health.
Health promotion strategies and programmes should
be adapted to the local needs and possibilities of
individual countries and regions to take into account
differing social, cultural and economic systems.

Health Promotion action means:

choice for policy makers as well.
Create supportive environments
Our societies are complex and interrelated. Health
cannot be separated from other goals. The inextricable
links between people and their environment
constitutes the basis for a socio-ecological approach
to health. The overall guiding principle for the world,
nations, regions and communities alike, is the need
to encourage reciprocal maintenance - to take care
of each other, our communities and our natural
environment. The conservation of natural resources
throughout the world should be emphasized as a
global responsibility.
Changing patterns of life, work and leisure have a
significant impact on health. Work and leisure should
be a source of health for people. The way society
organizes work should help create a healthy society.
Health promotion generates living and working
conditions that are safe, stimulating, satisfying
and enjoyable.
Systematic assessment of the health impact of a
rapidly changing environment – particularly in areas of
technology, work, energy production and urbanization
– is essential and must be followed by action to
ensure positive benefit to the health of the public.
The protection of the natural and built environments
and the conservation of natural resources must be
addressed in any health promotion strategy.
Strengthen community action
Health promotion works through concrete and effective
community action in setting priorities, making
decisions, planning strategies and implementing them
to achieve better health. At the heart of this process
is the empowerment of communities - their ownership
and control of their own endeavours and destinies.

Build healthy public policy
Health promotion goes beyond health care. It puts
health on the agenda of policy makers in all sectors
and at all levels, directing them to be aware of the
health consequences of their decisions and to accept
their responsibilities for health.
Health promotion policy combines diverse but
complementary approaches including legislation, fiscal
measures, taxation and organizational change. It is
coordinated action that leads to health, income and
social policies that foster greater equity. Joint action
contributes to ensuring safer and healthier goods and
services, healthier public services, and cleaner, more
enjoyable environments.
Health promotion policy requires the identification of
obstacles to the adoption of healthy public policies in
non-health sectors, and ways of removing them. The
aim must be to make the healthier choice the easier
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Community development draws on existing human
and material resources in the community to enhance
self-help and social support, and to develop flexible
systems for strengthening public participation in
and direction of health matters. This requires full
and continuous access to information, learning
opportunities for health, as well as funding support.

Develop personal skills
Health promotion supports personal and social
development through providing information, education
for health, and enhancing life skills. By so doing,
it increases the options available to people to
exercise more control over their own health and
over their environments, and to make choices
conducive to health.
Enabling people to learn, throughout life, to prepare
themselves for all of its stages and to cope with
chronic illness and injuries is essential. This has to
be facilitated in school, home, work and community
settings. Action is required through educational,
professional, commercial and voluntary bodies, and
within the institutions themselves.
Reorient health services
The responsibility for health promotion in health
services is shared among individuals, community
groups, health professionals, health service institutions
and governments. They must work together towards
a health care system which contributes to the pursuit
of health.
The role of the health sector must move increasingly in
a health promotion direction, beyond its responsibility
for providing clinical and curative services. Health
services need to embrace an expanded mandate
which is sensitive and respects cultural needs. This
mandate should support the needs of individuals and
communities for a healthier life, and open channels
between the health sector and broader social, political,
economic and physical environmental components.
Reorienting health services also requires stronger
attention to health research as well as changes in
professional education and training. This must lead
to a change of attitude and organization of health
services which refocuses on the total needs of the
individual as a whole person.

Moving into the future
Health is created and lived by people within the
settings of their everyday life; where they learn, work,
play and love. Health is created by caring for oneself
and others, by being able to take decisions and have
control over one’s life circumstances, and by ensuring
that the society one lives in creates conditions that
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allow the attainment of health by all its members.
Caring, holism and ecology are essential issues in
developing strategies for health promotion. Therefore,
those involved should take as a guiding principle
that, in each phase of planning, implementation and
evaluation of health promotion activities, women and
men should become equal partners.
Commitment to health promotion
The participants in this Conference pledge:
• to move into the arena of healthy public policy, and
to advocate a clear political commitment to health
and equity in all sectors;
• to counteract the pressures towards harmful
products, resource depletion, unhealthy living
conditions and environments, and bad nutrition;
and to focus attention on public health issues such
as pollution, occupational hazards, housing and
settlements;
• to respond to the health gap within and between
societies, and to tackle the inequities in health
produced by the rules and practices of these
societies;
• to acknowledge people as the main health
resource; to support and enable them to keep
themselves, their families and friends healthy
through financial and other means, and to accept
the community as the essential voice in matters of
its health, living conditions and well-being;
• to reorient health services and their resources
towards the promotion of health; and to share
power with other sectors, other disciplines and,
most importantly, with people themselves;
• to recognize health and its maintenance as a major
social investment and challenge; and to address
the overall ecological issue of our ways of living.
• The Conference urges all concerned to join them in
their commitment to a strong public health alliance.
Call for international action
The Conference calls on the World Health Organization
and other international organizations to advocate
the promotion of health in all appropriate forums
and to support countries in setting up strategies and
programmes for health promotion.
The Conference is firmly convinced that if people
in all walks of life, nongovernmental and voluntary
organizations, governments, the World Health
Organization and all other bodies concerned join forces
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A Passionate Life Spent Fighting
For Society’s Greater Good by Oliver Mendelsohn

Dr Ronald Mendelsohn – born October 9th, 1914
Died April 10th, 2005
Ronald Mendelsohn was one of the last of the
generations to have helped lay the foundations for
what used to be called “the welfare state” in Australia.
He spent more than 60 years thinking, writing and
devising policy about practical matters of social
welfare – pensions, housing, public education,
superannuation. He called himself a “socialist” for
almost all his adult life, though he spent the most
important part of his career happily serving Prime
Minister Robert Menzies.

in introducing strategies for health promotion, in line
with the moral and social values that form the basis of
this CHARTER, Health For All by the year 2000 will
become a reality.
Report of the Directors ............................................................41
Auditor’s Independence Declaration ................................ 43

Dr Mendelsohn’s political sensibilities grew out of his
own experience of the Depression and the particular
outlook of a Jewish intellectual, albeit one who grew up
in Sydney rather than Berlin or Poland.
He recalled his childhood as unhappy. He got into
the selective Fort Street High School as a boy of 11
but was physically abused there and enjoyed little
academic success. He was able to stay long enough to
matriculate and eventually was lucky enough to find a
job in the Bank of NSW.
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Statement of Financial Position...........................................47
Statement of Cash Flows ....................................................... 48
Notes to the Financial Statements.................................... 49
Director’s Declaration .............................................................. 58

He loathed being a bank teller but was encouraged to
study economics at night at Sydney University. There
his world opened up. He discovered that there were
people trying to understand and repair the fractured
world of the Depression, and these preoccupations
became the kernel of his life’s work. His own interests
were never orthodox economics. One of his activities
during his leisure time in the 1930’s was studying and
creating a photographic record of the slums of Sydney
and Melbourne.

Independent Review Report ................................................. 59
Detailed Statement of Financial Performance............. 60
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The Bank of NSW opened the first economics unit of
any bank in Australia, and he joined it. He produced a
widely read circular on the economics of social welfare
and this led to his being “lent” by the bank’s head, Sir
Alfred Davidson, to the first Commonwealth Minister
for Social Services, Sir Frederick Stewart.
He was appointed research officer to the Joint
Parliamentary Committee on Social Security in
1941 and wrote a report he often said was the most
important piece of writing he ever did. It led directly to
the post-war Constitutional amendments which clothed
the Commonwealth with broad powers in the field of
social welfare.
After this assignment he joined the wartime army,
but to his intense regret he did not see active service.
He was pulled out of the army into the newly formed
Department of Post-War Reconstruction at the request
of Dr H. C. (Nugget) Coombs, who had heard of his
work on housing.
From then until his retirement in the late 1970’s,
he remained a Commonwealth public servant.
He loved Canberra, though he was a critic of its
“heedless” spread.
In 1948 he received the first Commonwealth
scholarship to do a PhD abroad, and completed his
doctorate at the London School of Economics in the
two years to 1950
The influential book he published in 1954 from
the thesis was titled Social Security in the British
Commonwealth.
He returned to serious writing in retirement, publishing
a number of books including The Condition of the
People: Social Welfare in Australia 1900 to 1975,
written during a period of some 10 years at the
Australian National University.
His most fulfilling professional time was coordinating
social welfare policy initiatives in the Department of
Prime Minister and Cabinet from 1951 to 1965.
With a style that was direct and passionate, he
encouraged debate and fostered the development of
young public servants. He reminded them of history
strengthened their social conscience and reinforced
their professional values.
His most novel assignment was as an adviser to the
Shah of Iran in 1960-61: he was part of a Harvard
Advisory Group and his brief was to draw up a scheme
of social welfare for Iran. Needless to say, the scheme
was never implemented.
Although he was never an orthodox Jew and even
had serious doubts about the existence of the deity,
Dr Mendelsohn became foundation president of
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the ACT Jewish Community in 1951. He was one
of a group who worked to build the National Jewish
Memorial Centre.
He was particularly proud of the fact that, uniquely,
both orthodox and progressive Jews shared a building
and constituted a single community.
Dr Mendelsohn’s wife of 56 years, Ruth died in 1996
after a long illness, during which he cared for her with
unwavering dedication. Years before, he had suffered
the loss of his daughter, Carola, at the age of 24.
Characteristically, he met the death of his daughter by
establishing and becoming the first president of the
ACT Cancer Society.
He is survived by his son Oliver and his family,
and two brothers.
Dr Mendelsohn had many interests (classical music,
geraniums, photography, science fiction) and a large
group of friends to the end; though he lamented
that by the time he had reached 90, almost all his
contemporaries were gone.
The Cancer Council ACT is grateful to Ron for
remembering us in his will.

How You Can Support
The Cancer Council ACT
You can make a real contribution to reducing the incidence and impact of cancer
in the ACT by supporting The Cancer Council ACT.
You can support The Cancer Council ACT by:

• Making a regular donation
• Taking part in one of our fundraising events
• Making a bequest in your will
• Enlisting as a volunteer
• Becoming a member
For further information or to make a donation visit www.actcancer.org
or please call The Cancer Council ACT on (02) 6257 9999.

I would like to support The Cancer Council ACT by making the following donation:

Amount (please enter) $...................................................................
Please make Cheque/Money Order payable to THE CANCER COUNCIL ACT or charge my:
■ Bankcard

Card No:

■ Mastercard

■ Visa

■ AMEX

■■■■ ■■■■ ■■■■ ■■■■

Expiry Date:............ / ............ / ............

Signature .......................................................................................................

Name: ....................................................................................................................................................................................................................................
Address: ................................................................................................................................................................................................................................
Thank you for your kind donation. Your tax deductible receipt will be sent to you.
Please forward your donation to:
The Cancer Council ACT
PO Box 143
Fyshwick ACT 2614

The Cancer Council ACT
5 Richmond Avenue
Fairbairn ACT 2609

Phone: (02) 6257 9999
Fax: (02) 6257 5055
www.actcancer.org
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Simple Steps to Preventing Cancer
Avoid tobacco smoke

• Drink alcohol in moderation, if at all

• Quit smoking

• Limit the amount of processed meat and
avoid charred meat

• If a non-smoker, try to avoid other people’s smoke

• Less fat and salt

Protect your skin from the sun

Exercising regularly

• Sun protection is not necessary in Canberra
during June and July

• Aim to have at least 30 minutes of moderate
physical activity daily, if currently inactive then
any increase is beneficial

• People should aim for 2-3 hours of sun exposure
per week during these two months
• Sun protection should be used from the
beginning of August to the end of May each year
• Minimise direct exposure to the sun between
10am and 2pm (11am and 3pm during
daylight saving)
• Slip on a long sleeved collared shirt, and protect
your skin with clothes when outside
• Slop on broad spectrum SPF 30+ sunscreen
20 minutes before going outside and reapply
every two hours
• Slap on a hat with a wide brim to cover your
neck, face and ears
• Wrap on sunglasses to protect your eyes.
They should be close fitting, wrap-around
and conform to the Standards Association of
Australia standard (AS 1067)
• Use shade to protect yourself from the sun
when outside

Maintain a healthy body weight by:

Early Detection
• Be aware of the signs of bowel cancer: bleeding
or a change in usual bowel pattern persisting for
more than two weeks. If you have any unusual
bowel symptoms, see your doctor immediately
• Men and women 50 years and over should talk to
their doctor about having a FOBT test for bowel
cancer every two years
• Check your body for any new skin spots, or a spot
that has changed in size, colour or shape. See
your doctor if you notice any changes

Women
• Have a Pap test every two years
• Become familiar with the normal look and feel of
your breasts, and talk to your doctor if you notice
any new change
• Have a screening mammogram every two years if
you are over 50

Men

• Lots of fruit and vegetables

• Check for any changes (a lump or anything
unusual) in your testicles. Talk to your doctor
if you notice anything or have any concerns

• Eat plenty of breads and cereals preferably
wholegrain

• Talk to your doctor about any persistent
urinary problems

Eating a healthy diet and

Street address: 5 Richmond Avenue FAIRBAIRN ACT 2609
Postal address: PO Box 143 FYSHWICK ACT 2609
Phone: (02) 6257 9999 Fax: (02) 6257 5055
Email: reception@actcancer.org Website: www.actcancer.org

